October 2010



منظمة الأغنية والزراعة للأمم المتحدة 联合国 粮食及 农业组织

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

Organisation des Nations Unies pour l'alimentation et l'agriculture

Продовольственная и сельскохозяйственная организация Объединенных Наций Organización de las Naciones Unidas para la Agricultura y la Alimentación

### **COUNCIL**

#### **Hundred and Fortieth Session**

Rome, 29 November – 3 December 2010

Report of the 27<sup>th</sup> Session of the Regional Conference for Europe (Yerevan, Armenia, 13 – 14 May 2010)

**REPORT** 

Yerevan, Armenia 13 and 14 May 2010 Twenty-seventh FAO Regional Conference for Europe



FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONSTIONS

#### Date and place of FAO Regional Conferences for Europe

First - Rome, Italy, 10-15 October 1949
Second - Rome, Italy, 10-15 October 1960
Third - Rome, Italy, 8-13 October 1962

Fourth - Salzburg, Austria, 26-31 October 1964
Fifth - Seville, Spain, 5-11 October 1966
Sixth - St. Julian's, Malta, 28-31 October 1968
Seventh - Budapest, Hungary, 21-25 September 1970

Eighth - Munich, Germany, Fed.Rep. of, 18-23 September 1972

Ninth - Lausanne, Switzerland, 7-12 October 1974
Tenth - Bucharest, Romania, 20-25 September 1976

Eleventh - Lisbon, Portugal, 2-7 October 1978
Twelfth - Athens, Greece, 22-27 September 1980
Thirteenth - Sofia, Bulgaria, 4-8 October 1982

Fourteenth - Reykjavik, Iceland, 17-21 September 1984
Fifteenth - Istanbul, Turkey, 28 April-2 May 1986
Sixteenth - Cracow, Poland, 23-26 August 1988

Seventeenth - Venice, Italy, 3-7 April 1990

Eighteenth - Prague, Czechoslovakia, 24-28 August 1992

Nineteenth - Killarney, Ireland, 6-10 June 1994
Twentieth - Tel Aviv, Israel, 29 April-3 May 1996
Twenty-first - Tallinn, Estonia, 25-29 May 1998
Twenty-second - Porto, Portugal, 24-28 July 2000
Twenty-third - Nicosia, Cyprus, 29-31 May 2002
Twenty-fourth - Montpellier, France, 5-7 May 2004

Twenty-fifth - Riga, Latvia, 8-9 June 2006

Twenty-sixth - Innsbruck, Austria, 26-27 June 2008 Twenty-seventh Yerevan, Armenia, 13-14 May 2010

#### **REPORT**

of the

#### FAO REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR EUROPE

Twenty-seventh Session Yerevan, Armenia, 13 and 14 May 2010

FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS
Budapest, 2010

#### **Table of Contents**

	Pages
SUMMARY OF MAIN RECOMMENDATIONS	1-6
	Paragraph
INTRODUCTION	1 - 2
OPENING CEREMONY	3
ELECTION OF THE CHAIRPERSON, VICE-CHAIRPERSONS AND APPOINTMENT OF RAPPORTEUR	4 - 6
ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA AND TIMETABLE	7
STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL	8
STATEMENT BY THE INDEPENDENT CHAIRPERSON OF THE FAO COUNCIL	9
MATTERS ARISING FROM THE WORLD SUMMIT ON FOOD SECURITY AND THE 36 <sup>TH</sup> SESSION OF THE FAO CONFERENCE, NOTABLY IMPLEMENTATION OF THE IMMEDIATE PLAN OF ACTION (IPA), INCLUDING THE DECENTRALIZED OFFICES NETWORK	10 - 13
ESTABLISHMENT OF ONE GLOBAL SHARED SERVICES CENTRE	14 - 15
THE ROLE OF FAO REGIONAL CONFERENCE IN THE REFORMED COMMITTEE ON WORLD FOOD SECURITY	16 - 19
REPORT ON FAO ACTIVITIES IN THE REGION 2008-09 AND THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE 26 <sup>TH</sup> REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR EUROPE	20 - 26
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROGRAMME OF WORK AND BUDGET (PWB) 2010-11 AND AREAS OF PRIORITY ACTIONS FOR THE EUROPEAN REGION FOR THE FOLLOWING BIENNIUM 2012-13	27 - 35
SUMMARY REPORT OF RECOMMENDATIONS OF FAO REGIONAL BODIES	36 - 44
MAIN CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS STEMMING FROM THE DEBATE IN THE 36 <sup>TH</sup> SESSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION ON AGRICULTURE	45
DECLARATION OF THE FAO-CSOs/NGOs CONSULTATION FOR EUROPE	46 - 47
MINISTERIAL ROUND TABLE – POLICY RESPONSE TO CHALLENGES IN AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT IN THE EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA REGION: SHARING EXPERIENCE AND ENHANCING COOPERATION IN THE REGION	48 - 63
DATE, PLACE AND MAIN THEME(S) OF THE TWENTY-EIGHTH FAO REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR EUROPE	64 - 66
ANY OTHER BUSINESS	67
ADOPTION OF THE REPORT	68
CLOSURE OF THE CONFERENCE	69 - 71

#### APPENDIXES

- A. LIST OF PARTICIPANTS
- B. AGENDA

- C. LIST OF DOCUMENTS
- D. STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL
- E. STATEMENT BY THE INDEPENDENT CHAIRPERSON OF THE FAO COUNCIL
- F. MAIN CONCLUSIONS AND LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS STEMMING FROM THE DEBATE IN THE  $36^{\rm TH}$  SESSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION ON AGRICULTURE (ECA) ON ITEMS 4 9
- G. STATEMENT BY THE REPRESENTATIVE OF THE FAO/CSOs-NGOS CONSULTATION FOR EUROPE ON TOPICS RELATED TO THE AGENDA OF THE REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR EUROPE
- $\operatorname{H.}\,$  REPORT OF THE PREPARATORY INFORMAL CONSULTATION HELD IN BUDAPEST

#### SUMMARY OF THE MAIN RECOMMENDATIONS

Matters arising from the World Summit on Food Security and the 36<sup>th</sup> Session of the FAO Conference, notably implementation of the Immediate Plan of Action (IPA), including the Decentralized Offices Network

For the attention of governments

The Conference:

welcomed the decision of the 36<sup>th</sup> Session of the FAO Conference mandating the Regional Conferences for priority setting for FAO's Decentralized Offices (DOs) Network and invited the member countries to indicate their proposals regarding FAO's presence at country, subregional and regional level in the context of the new medium- and long-term vision of the Decentralized Offices Network (paras 11 and 12);

<u>welcomed</u> the efforts of FAO and the Government of Hungary to improve the facilities of the Regional Office for Europe and Central Asia (REU) in Budapest (para 25).

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

<u>expressed</u> its full support for the implementation of the Immediate Plan of Action to enhance the efficiency of the DOs Network (para 11);

<u>requested</u> the secretariat to provide further background documentation on decentralization, including a detailed inventory of the present structure, staffing and funding of the DOs (para 12) and to give serious consideration to fully fledged presence in some of the countries in the region, especially in the Central Asia subregion, while reinforcing its country presence in some others through the nomination of Assistant FAO Representatives (para 12);

<u>expressed</u> satisfaction with the efficient work of the Regional Office for Europe and Central Asia (REU), the Subregional Office for Central and Eastern Europe (SEU) and the Subregional Office for Central Asia (SEC) (para 13);

<u>suggested</u> to give due consideration to merging the two offices (REU and SEU) in Budapest to enhance efficiency and savings (para 13).

#### **Establishment of One Global Shared Services Centre**

For the attention of governments

The Conference:

<u>considered</u> that the establishment of the Shared Services Centre (SSC) had improved the efficiency of the Organization and the quality of services provided (para 15).

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

<u>urged</u> the Secretariat to review the Bangkok and Santiago hubs and the possibility of merging them into one global SSC in Budapest (para 15).

#### The role of FAO Regional Conferences in the reformed Committee on World Food Security

For the attention of governments

The Conference:

<u>welcomed</u> and <u>supported</u> the ongoing reform of the Committee on World Food Security (CFS) and its initiative to broaden the partnership and consultative process without creating new and parallel structures to facilitate this dialogue (para 17);

<u>welcomed</u> the new opportunities for regional level consultations with the creation of new and parallel structures to facilitate this dialogue (para 17).

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

<u>encouraged</u> the CFS Bureau to speed up the establishment of the High-Level Panel of Experts (HLPE) (para 17).

## Report on FAO Activities in the Region 2008-09 and the implementation of the recommendations of the 26<sup>th</sup> Regional Conference for Europe

For the attention of governments

The Conference:

<u>welcomed</u> the report on FAO activities in the region and <u>underlined</u> the importance of partnerships with the United Nations bodies under the Delivering as One initiative and cooperation with the European Union (para 21).

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

<u>encouraged</u> FAO to continue providing technical support, expertise and knowledge through its strengthened Regional Office and DOs Network in Europe and Central Asia, progressively integrating the country-led approach in the areas of intervention (para 24);

<u>requested</u> the secretariat to prepare the report on FAO activities using the results based framework with impacts of the implementation of activities (para 21).

## Implementation of the Programme of Work and Budget (PWB) 2010-11 and areas of priority actions for the European region for the following biennium 2012-13

#### For the attention of governments

#### The Conference:

<u>recalled</u> that the Strategic Framework 2010-19, approved by the FAO Conference in 2009, focused and prioritized FAO's work, so that it would have measurable impact on meeting Members' needs. Starting with 2010-11, all of FAO's work under all sources of funds should aim to achieve 56 Organizational Results for the expression of corporate priorities (para 27);

<u>recalled</u> that the 2009 FAO Conference had approved a renewed and more inclusive intergovernmental process for review of programme and budget priorities and proposals, where the Regional Conferences report to the FAO Council through the Programme and Finance Committees on regional areas for priority action for the current and future biennia (para 28);

<u>expressed</u> its satisfaction to be able to review the priority areas of FAO's work in the region as it affects directly not only food security issues but also vital economic interests of a number of member countries. The Regional Conference expected that the regional areas of priority action would help the Regional Office for Europe and Central Asia to develop coordinated and targeted operational instruments and programmes for FAO's work in the region, including collaboration with partners and mobilization of resources (para 29);

<u>agreed</u> that continuation of the present areas of priority action for the 2012-13 biennium was an appropriate approach linked to the four-year Medium Term Plan (MTP), with adjustments to take account of emerging issues and linkages to the reformed Committee on World Food Security and partnerships (para 32).

#### For the attention of FAO

#### The Conference:

stressed that the background document did not provide the basis for a thorough discussion of areas of priority action in the region for the current and future biennia. It recognized that the process of prioritization was a work in progress, involving Members and the secretariat, and improvements were to be expected in future documentation (para 30);

<u>highlighted</u> that for the current biennium, elaboration of regional areas of action should be linked to indicators in the results frameworks, identification of opportunities for use of the Technical Cooperation Programme (TCP) and leveraging of voluntary contributions (para 31);

<u>requested</u> that a more detailed breakdown of the proposed priority activities for each Strategic Objective be given with the indication of the required regular and extrabudgetary funding including partnerships (para 31);

<u>suggested</u> that this information should be provided and further dialogue be carried out between the secretariat and the Executive Committee of the European Commission on Agriculture (ECA), the Executive Committee serving as the formal intersessional forum (para 31);

<u>endorsed</u> the conclusions and recommendations of the 36th Session of the ECA related to the priority areas as well as to the mechanism of the consultative planning process;

<u>requested</u> that in future FAO provide a work and budget document detailing challenges, shortfalls, etc., including their analysis. The results of informal consultations such as the one held in Budapest in March 2010 should be considered (para 30);

<u>emphasized</u> that priority should be given to regional activities involving advocacy, policy support, capacity-building, knowledge management and neutral fora for discussion in the following areas of action (para 33):

- provision of basic global data and statistics;
- assistance to define national economic, social, food and nutrition policies, with a focus on capacity-building for least developed countries to meet global expectations and benefit from market opportunities;
- normative role at global level, as well as capacity-building to reinforce technical and institutional capacities, especially for least developed countries;
- implementation of food safety, sanitary and phytosanitary standards including global conventions;
- animal and plant transboundary diseases;
- emergencies and rehabilitation;
- interface between climate change and agriculture and rural development;
- gender:
- conservation and management of plant and animal genetic resources, and
- sustainable management of forests.

#### Summary report of recommendations of FAO regional bodies

For the attention of governments

#### The Conference:

<u>welcomed</u> the summary reports of the four specialized regional commissions and the presentation of the main activities carried out during the last two years (para 37);

<u>urged</u> the specialized regional commissions to convene their future sessions in line with the Regional Conference for Europe in order to allow that priority action could be identified and timely submitted to FAO's Governing Bodies (para 39);

<u>welcomed</u> the adoption of the Strategic Plan 2008-2013 of the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE)/FAO integrated Programme of Work on Timber and Forestry by the joint session of the UNECE Timber Committee and FAO European Forestry Commission and encouraged both bodies to continue their collaborative work and to look for synergies with other international bodies, including Multilateral Environmental Agreements (MEAs) (para 40);

<u>encouraged</u> all countries in the Europe and Central Asia region to join the European Commission for the Control of Foot-and-Mouth Disease (EUFMD) (para 41);

<u>stressed</u> that coordination, cooperation and transparency were essential for the control and eradication of infectious diseases and the EUFMD was a successful example in this field (para 41);

welcomed that the European Union and its Member States confirmed their full commitment to working with FAO and the World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE) to provide countries in the region with the necessary technical assistance and capacity-building (para 42);

took note of the options for the future of the European Inland Fisheries Advisory Commission (EIFAC) proposed in January 2010 and encouraged the 26th Session of the EIFAC

in May 2010 in Zagreb to carefully reflect on these options and considered that the most appropriate option at this stage would be the continuation of EIFAC as an FAO Article VI body (para 43).

#### For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

<u>requested</u> FAO and members of the technical commissions to review the meeting schedules and agenda settings of the specialized regional commissions allowing timely identification of priority actions relevant for the regions concerned (para 39);

<u>requested</u> the EIFAC Secretariat to prepare a detailed report on the continuation of EIFAC as an FAO Article VI body, results-based oriented, including clear links with the relative Strategic Objectives of FAO and with the work carried out by Committee on Fisheries (COFI), the report to provide the main results achieved by EIFAC during the past five years (para 43);

<u>regretted</u> not having received information about the General Fisheries Commission for the Mediterranean (GFCM) (para 38).

## Main conclusions and recommendations stemming from the debate in the 36<sup>th</sup> Session of the European Commission on Agriculture

For the attention of governments

The Conference:

welcomed the preparation of the four technical documents and the document on mainstreaming gender in rural development through ECA Working Party on Women and Family in Rural Development activities;

<u>emphasized</u> that these technical documents provide useful conclusions and recommendations for various groups of countries addressing sectoral issues of agricultural and rural development.

For the attention of FAO

The Conference:

endorsed the conclusions and recommendations from the 36<sup>th</sup> Session of the ECA (para 45), and

<u>requested</u> that due consideration be given to the recommendations both related to the technical priorities as well as to the consultation mechanisms for the preparation of the Programme of Work and Budget 2012-13 in the Region.

#### Date, place and main theme(s) of the Twenty-eighth FAO Regional Conference for Europe

For the attention of governments

The Conference:

agreed that the next 28<sup>th</sup> Regional Conference for Europe in 2012 be held in Baku, Azerbaijan, and took note of the invitation of the Delegate of Romania to hold the 29<sup>th</sup> session in Bucharest, Romania in 2014 (para 64).

#### INTRODUCTION

1. The Twenty-seventh FAO Regional Conference for Europe was held in Yerevan, Armenia, on 13 and 14 May 2010 at the invitation of the Government of Armenia.

2. The List of Participants is given in Appendix A to this Report.

#### **OPENING CEREMONY**

3. The Minister for Agriculture of Armenia, His Excellency Gerasim Alaverdyan welcomed the participants on behalf of his Government and expressed his satisfaction that Armenia was hosting this high-level event of FAO, which was providing strategic guidance and identifying the regional priorities for the Organization.

## ELECTION OF THE CHAIRPERSON, VICE-CHAIRPERSONS AND APPOINTMENT OF RAPPORTEUR

- 4. The Conference unanimously elected the First Deputy Minister for Agriculture of Armenia, Samvel Avetisyan, as Chairperson of the Conference.
- 5. Ms Hedwig Wögerbauer, the Director, Head of the Division for FAO Affairs, Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management of Austria, and Mr Hans-Jörg Lehmann, Minister, Permanent Representative of Switzerland to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations in Rome were elected unanimously as Vice-Chairpersons of the Regional Conference.
- 6. Her Excellency Cecilia Nordin Van Gansberghe, Ambassador, Permanent Representative of the Kingdom of Sweden to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations in Rome and Mr Ruve Schank, Minister Counsellor, Permanent Representative of the Republic of Estonia to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations were elected as Rapporteurs.

#### ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA AND TIMETABLE

7. The Regional Conference adopted the Agenda as given in Appendix B to this report and the Timetable for the session.

#### STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL

8. The Director-General delivered his Statement to the Regional Conference, the text of which is attached in Appendix D to this report. The Regional Conference thanked the Director-General for his contributions to FAO's work in the region during his three terms.

## STATEMENT BY THE INDEPENDENT CHAIRPERSON OF THE FAO COUNCIL

9. The Independent Chairperson of the FAO Council, Mr Luc Guyau, delivered a statement, the text of which is attached in Appendix E to this report.

# MATTERS ARISING FROM THE WORLD SUMMIT ON FOOD SECURITY AND THE 36TH SESSION OF THE FAO CONFERENCE, NOTABLY IMPLEMENTATION OF THE IMMEDIATE PLAN OF ACTION (IPA), INCLUDING THE DECENTRALIZED OFFICES NETWORK

- 10. The agenda item was introduced by the Director, Office of Support to Decentralization (OSD) of FAO.
- 11. The Regional Conference expressed its full support for the implementation of the Immediate Plan of Action to enhance the efficiency of the Decentralized Offices (DOs) Network. It was regretted, however, that the background documentation made no reference to a number of important reports and decisions on decentralization. Furthermore, it did not present an explicit explanation on the new working methods related to the new role of the Regional Conferences, especially in the framework of priority setting and also it did not provide a detailed inventory of the present structure, staffing and funding of the DOs. Such an overview would allow to make a better judgement on how to best use the available resources for FAO's presence at country, subregional and regional level.
- 12. A number of member countries requested that, in the context of the new medium- and long-term vision of the DOs Network, serious consideration be given to FAO's fully-fledged presence in some of the countries in the region, thus Kyrgyzstan and an Assistant FAO Representative in the Republic of Moldova.
- 13. While the Regional Conference expressed its full satisfaction with the efficient work of the Regional Office for Europe and Central Asia (REU) and the Subregional Office for Central and Eastern Europe (SEU), both located in Budapest, with the strong support of the Government of Hungary, it was suggested to give due consideration to merge REU and SEU to enhance efficiency and savings. The Delegate of Turkey reiterated its Government's support for FAO's DOs Network and to the work of the Subregional Office for Central Asia (SEC).

## ESTABLISHMENT OF ONE GLOBAL SHARED SERVICES CENTRE

14. The Regional Conference recalled that the establishment of the Shared Services Centre (SSC) had been approved in 2005, which resulted in three hubs in Budapest, Santiago de Chile and Bangkok with implementation phased over 2007 to 2009. Based on two reviews undertaken in 2009, FAO Management was carrying out an in-depth analysis of administrative services provided by the SSC in order to validate further savings that could be achieved by a consolidation into one global hub. It noted that the Finance Committee had commented favourably on savings achieved to date and supported efforts to achieve further savings. The FAO Council had stressed that any decision on closing the SSC hubs in Santiago de Chile and Bangkok should be transparent, preceded by in-depth analysis, including consultations with the Regional Conferences.

15. The Regional Conference considered that the establishment of the SSC had been a great success, as it had improved the efficiency of the Organization and the quality of the services provided, making the best use of FAO's resources. It urged the secretariat to review the Bangkok and Santiago hubs and the possibility of merging them into one global SSC in Budapest. The representative of Hungary assured the Regional Conference that the Government of Hungary would provide its full support to a global SSC hub, should it be established in Budapest.

## THE ROLE OF FAO REGIONAL CONFERENCES IN THE REFORMED COMMITTEE ON WORLD FOOD SECURITY

- 16. This agenda item was introduced by Mr Noel de Luna, Chairperson of the Committee on World Food Security (CFS).
- 17. The Regional Conference welcomed and supported the ongoing reform of the CFS as a central element of the global partnership on agriculture, food security and nutrition and its initiative to broaden the partnership and consultative process. It welcomed the new opportunities for regional level consultations but stressed that there was no need to create new and parallel structures to facilitate this dialogue. It was regretted that the establishment of the High-Level Panel of Experts (HLPE) had been delayed and the Regional Conference encouraged the CFS Bureau to speed up the establishment of the HLPE to allow it to contribute to the CFS session in October 2010.
- 18. The Regional Conference took note of the proposal of the Chair of the Working Party on Women and the Family in Rural Development to serve as a focal point between the Regional Conference and the CFS.
- 19. The FAO/CSOs-NGOs Consultation for Europe1 supported the ongoing CFS reform and declared its involvement in the process to make the CFS a venue for decision-making and governance at global and regional levels to respond to challenges to food and agriculture.

## REPORT ON FAO ACTIVITIES IN THE REGION 2008-2009 AND THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE 26<sup>TH</sup> REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR EUROPE<sup>2</sup>

- 20. The secretariat outlined the activities in the European region in the 2008-2009 biennium.
- 21. The Regional Conference welcomed the document provided by the secretariat but it was regretted that it had still been prepared in the traditional way, not giving an opportunity for the Regional Conference to have a results-based framework regarding the work performed by FAO in the previous biennium and to draw on lessons learned and on the impact of the implementation of the activities.
- 22. The Regional Conference welcomed the work undertaken within the Delivering as One initiative and the different activities undertaken in cooperation with several United Nations bodies and recommended FAO to report the effects of these activities to the United Nations High-Level Task Force.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Held in Yerevan on 10 and 11 May 2010. The Statement is attached as Appendix G to this Report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> ERC/10/2

23. The European Union (EU) confirmed its intention to continue to cooperate with FAO and other organizations, both international financial institutions (IFIs), specialized agencies, NGOs and CSOs to provide relevant assistance and support to countries in the region on demand.

- 24. The Regional Conference encouraged FAO to continue providing technical support, expertise and knowledge through its strengthened Regional Office and DOs Network in Europe and Central Asia, progressively integrating the country-led approach in the areas of intervention.
- 25. The Regional Conference welcomed the efforts made by FAO and the Government of Hungary to improve the facilities of REU in Budapest.
- 26. The FAO/CSOs-NGOs Consultation for Europe supported FAO activities for dissemination of good practices for environment-friendly agriculture and at the same time aiming at improving the livelihoods of rural populations through diversification of jobs and income sources and supported FAO assistance to increase productivity and market access to small farms, including better access to land and microfinance, and development of marketing cooperatives. The Consultation also supported FAO's work on monitoring farm products markets development and prices volatility on agricultural markets.

#### IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROGRAMME OF WORK AND BUDGET (PWB) 2010-11 AND AREAS OF PRIORITY ACTIONS FOR THE EUROPEAN REGION FOR THE FOLLOWING BIENNIUM 2012-13

- 27. The Regional Conference recalled that the Strategic Framework 2010-19, approved by the FAO Conference in 2009, focused and prioritized FAO's work, so that it would have measurable impact in meeting Members' needs. Starting with 2010-11, all of FAO's work under all sources of funds should aim to achieve the 56 Organizational Results as expression of corporate priorities.
- 28. The Regional Conference also recalled that the 2009 FAO Conference had approved a renewed and more inclusive intergovernmental process for review of programme and budget priorities and proposals, where the Regional Conferences report to the FAO Council through the Programme and Finance Committees on regional areas for priority action for the current and future biennia.
- 29. The Regional Conference expressed its satisfaction to be able to review the priority areas of FAO's work in the region as it affects directly not only food security issues but also vital economic interests of a number of member countries. The Regional Conference expected that the regional areas of priority action would help REU to develop coordinated and targeted operational instruments and programmes for FAO's work in the region, including collaboration with partners and mobilization of resources.
- 30. The Regional Conference stressed that the background document did not provide the basis for a thorough discussion on areas of priority action in the region for the current and future biennia. It recognized that the process of prioritization was work in progress, involving Members and the secretariat, and improvements were to be expected in future documentation. For the future, FAO was expected to provide a document detailing challenges and shortfalls etc., including their analysis. The results of informal consultations such as the one held in Budapest in March 2010 should be considered.
- 31. For the current biennium, elaboration of regional areas of action should be linked to indicators in the results frameworks, identification of opportunities for use of the Technical Cooperation Programme (TCP) and leveraging of voluntary contributions. It was requested that a more detailed breakdown of the proposed priority activities for each Strategic

Objective be given with the indication of the required regular and extrabudgetary funding including partnerships. It was suggested that this information should be provided and further dialogue should be carried out between the secretariat and the Executive Committee of the European Commission on Agriculture (ECA), the ECA serving as the formal intersessional forum.

- 32. The Regional Conference agreed that continuation of the present areas of priority action for the 2012-13 biennium was an appropriate approach linked to the four-year Medium-Term Plan (MTP), with adjustments to take account of emerging issues and linkages to the reformed Committee on World Food Security, and partnerships.
- 33. To address the food and agriculture challenges in the region, and taking account of FAO's Strategic Framework and its core functions, the Regional Conference emphasized that priority should be given to regional activities involving advocacy, policy support, capacity-building, knowledge management and neutral fora for discussion in the following areas of action:
  - provision of basic global data and statistics;
  - assistance to define national economic, social, food and nutrition policies, with a focus on capacity-building for least-developed countries to meet global expectations and benefit from market opportunities;
  - normative role at global level, as well as capacity-building to reinforce technical and institutional capacities, especially for least developed countries;
  - implementation of food safety, sanitary and phytosanitary standards including global conventions;
  - animal and plant transboundary diseases;
  - emergencies and rehabilitation;
  - interface between climate change and agriculture and rural development;
  - gender
  - conservation and management of plant and animal genetic resources, and
  - sustainable management of forests.
- 34. Several Member States that are not Members of the European Union pointed out during the deliberations, that the developments of the European Union agricultural rural policies were also of utmost importance to them. The Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) member countries emphasized the importance of FAO's work in the region.
- 35. The FAO/CSOs-NGOs Consultation for Europe proposed to establish, based on existing NGOs/CSOs platforms, a facilitating committee with focal points for regular dialogue with FAO and Member States in the Europe region with the task of identification, from the point of view of civil society, of major policy issues in regional food security and presentation of these to the ERC.

## SUMMARY REPORT OF RECOMMENDATIONS OF FAO REGIONAL BODIES

- 36. The item was introduced by the Subregional Coordinator for Central Asia.
- 37. The Regional Conference welcomed the summary reports of these four specialized regional commissions and the presentation of the main activities carried out during the last two years. However, it would have been desirable that during the 36th Session of the ECA a proper consultation on subregional and regional areas of priority action could have been undertaken.

38. The Regional Conference regretted not having received information about the General Fisheries Commission for the Mediterranean (GFCM).

- 39. The Regional Conference urged the specialized regional commissions to convene their future sessions in line with the Regional Conference for Europe in order to allow that priority action could be identified and timely submitted to FAO's Governing Bodies.
- 40. The Regional Conference welcomed the adoption of the Strategic Plan 2008-13 of the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE)/FAO integrated Programme of Work on Timber and Forestry by the joint session of the UNECE Timber Committee and FAO European Forestry Commission. It encouraged both bodies to continue their collaborative work and to look for synergies with other international bodies, including Multilateral Environmental Agreements (MEAs).
- 41. The Regional Conference encouraged all countries in the Europe and Central Asia region to join the European Commission for the Control of Foot-and-Mouth Disease (EUFMD). It stressed that coordination, cooperation and transparency were essential for the control and eradication of infectious diseases and the EUFMD was a successful example in this field.
- 42. The European Union and its Member States confirmed that they were fully committed to working with FAO and the World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE) to provide countries in the region with the necessary technical assistance and capacity-building. The European Union welcomed the progress made by the West Eurasia Roadmap, the introduction of the Progressive Control Pathway and its ongoing implementation.
- 43. The Regional Conference took note of the options for the future of the European Inland Fisheries Advisory Commission (EIFAC) in January 2010. It encouraged the 26th Session of the EIFAC in May 2010 in Zagreb to carefully reflect on these options. It considered that the most appropriate option at this stage would be the continuation of EIFAC as an FAO Article VI body. The Regional Conference requested the EIFAC Secretariat to prepare a detailed report on the continuation of EIFAC as an FAO Article VI body, results-based oriented, including clear links with the relative strategic objectives of FAO and with the work carried out by the Committee on Fisheries (COFI). Such a report should indicate the main results provided by EIFAC during the last five years.
- 44. The Delegate of Kyrgyzstan informed the Regional Conference that its Government fully supported the creation of the Central Asian and Caucasus Regional Fisheries and Aquaculture Commission and the Government of Kyrgyzstan agreed to host the third preparatory intergovernmental meeting of that body later in 2010.

## MAIN CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS STEMMING FROM THE DEBATE IN THE 36TH SESSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION ON AGRICULTURE

45. The Rapporteur of the 36th Session of the European Commission on Agriculture (ECA) informed the Regional Conference about the deliberations of the ECA Session and she introduced the conclusions and recommendations of the discussions on Agenda Items 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9, which were the subject of the technical review for submission to the Regional Conference. These were endorsed by the Regional Conference, and are attached as Appendix F to this report.

## DECLARATION OF THE FAO-CSOs/NGOs CONSULTATION FOR EUROPE

46. The Declaration was introduced by Ms Anahit Ghazanchyan, Heifer Project International Armenian Branch Office. The text of the Declaration is attached as Appendix G.

47. The Declaration was noted by the Regional Conference. Several Members expressed their strong support to enhance further the cooperation with the FAO-CSOs/NGOs Consultation for Europe.

# MINISTERIAL ROUND TABLE – POLICY RESPONSE TO CHALLENGES IN AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT IN THE EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA REGION: SHARING EXPERIENCE AND ENHANCING COOPERATION IN THE REGION

- 48. The item was introduced by the secretariat based on the technical paper ERC/10/7 and a keynote presentation by Franz Fischler on challenges in agriculture and rural development in Europe. During the Round Table the following countries3 contributed to the debate on the main challenges faced by the agriculture sector and rural areas. A number of countries and one Member Organization presented policies and programmes to counteract the negative impacts of the global financial and economic crises as well as impacts of global climate changes.
- 49. During the discussion some speakers presented the achievements of the agriculture sector in their countries that have transformed former food insecure, grain importing countries into exporters of grains. The Round Table noted the support and assistance received from the European Union Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) by the New Member States that resulted in their successful transition to a market economy and restructuring of the food processing industry and marketing sector. It was noted that countries in the region not being members of the European Union benefited from closely following the developments in the European agricultural policies.
- 50. During the discussion, delegations highlighted the complexity of the following developments that threatened the achievements, growth and sustainability of agriculture and rural areas in the region, including:
  - climate change which was recognized as a factor of increasing negative impact on
    performance of agriculture. The Round Table speakers recognized agriculture's role
    in the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions (GHG), among others, from intensive
    livestock production, as well as in mitigation of the impacts of climate change. They
    recommended that FAO continue projects to map the impacts of climate change and
    build capacity in Ministries of Agriculture. Improved risk management and insurance
    instruments were proposed as ways of addressing the impacts of climate change on
    crop production;
  - the financial and economic crises had caused a decline in farmers' incomes and affected the future of the sector. The participants noted that prices of farm products had become closely linked to energy prices. Further research and analytical work were needed on the volatility of agricultural prices to determine the time span and recurrence as well as impacts on low-income population groups;

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Armenia; Austria; Azerbaijan; Belgium; Bosnia and Herzegovina; Czech Republic; Denmark; Estonia; Finland; France; Germany; Greece; Italy; Kazakhstan; Kyrgyzstan; the Netherlands; Poland; Russian Federation; Slovenia; Spain; Sweden; Switzerland; Turkey; Ukraine;

• a number of countries had undertaken policy actions to support sustainable development of rural areas, as these experienced the impacts of the financial crisis. The experience of a number of countries was presented in diversification of sources of incomes and job generation in rural areas, ranging from agro and rural tourism, to niche traditional regional crop production, social and environmental services. The participants recommended exchange of experience and regional cooperation of countries in diversification of rural jobs and sources of incomes. Outside farm jobs are necessary to secure an improved standard of living of rural populations that cannot survive with incomes from farming alone.

- 51. It was underlined that short-term policy measures to tackle the global financial and economic crises should not displace reform policies to increase the market orientation and mechanisms of agricultural policy, to remove international trade distorting instruments, reduce export subsidies and avoid import restrictions and to improve the competitiveness of the sector.
- 52. The Round Table noted that countries that face food insecurity and emergencies should consider the twin-track approach recommended by FAO of food assistance and building early warning systems, combined with assistance to revive and rebuild food production.
- 53. During the Round Table debate it was recommended to mainstream gender into rural policies, taking into account the role of women and their labour inputs into farms and households.
- 54. Governments were urged to continue reforms to improve farmers' access to markets, including credit. Good governance of land tenure was recognized as another factor improving the enabling environment. Some speakers made reference to the work of FAO on the elaboration of Voluntary Guidelines on Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land. Support to initiatives to revive or develop new marketable products based on traditional crops or technologies such as dark rye bread was proposed as one example of innovation with high nutritional value.
- 55. The Round Table participants recommended that governments revive investment in agricultural research and development seen as a necessary condition for increasing agricultural productivity. It was noted that the decline in resources for agricultural research in past decades had resulted in the present shortage of technologies and techniques to increase productivity. The participants spoke for a science-based approach and close scrutiny of risks and benefits for producers and consumers involved in introduction of new technologies, including Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs) and also recommended that even in periods of shortage of state budget means, research and extension services be offered to farmers as this was one of the most effective ways of supporting farms.
- 56. The importance of reviving the World Trade Organization (WTO) Doha Round for successful conclusion in a comprehensive, balanced and coherent way was stressed for a revival of confidence in international agricultural trade. Some speakers mentioned that food security should be on the agenda for the G8-G20 meeting in 2011.
- 57. The Round Table recognized the importance of regional cooperation and exchange of experiences and recommended FAO to support efforts to share experience of positive and negative policy outcomes and measures put in place to alleviate the impacts of the financial and economic crises and climate change.
- 58. The Round Table speakers recommended that an expert group for the Central and Eastern Europe and Central Asia region be formed which would continue the policy dialogue that had commenced during the Regional Conference for Europe. This expert group would exchange experience of successes and failures in food and agricultural policies and reforms as well as farm economics and be a forum for exchange of experiences across countries; support by FAO and other donors to this initiative was recommended. Many participants elaborated on diverse issues

of rural development, especially in the sense of sustainable development of high quality landscapes and food.

- 59. A number of countries requested FAO to further enhance and develop cooperation with the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) and the World Food Programme (WFP) to ensure synergy of actions.
- 60. The need for strong global governance for food security was reiterated, especially a strengthened and renewed CFS, taking care of international coordination of relevant issues of rural development and agriculture also through the HLPE.
- 61. The speakers welcomed the offer of a number of countries to share their experiences in transition to market economies, in land reform as well as with regard to programmes and instruments such as contract farming that might improve access of small farms and producers to markets.
- 62. The Round Table supported the activities of the Standing Working Group on Rural Development in southeastern Europe that provided, with FAO and bilateral donor support, training and capacity-building in rural development.
- 63. The Regional Conference took note of the statement from the NGOs/CSOs Consultation debates and assessment that the financial and economic crises have in particular affected Caucasus and Central Asia countries, given their strong dependency on agricultural trade and in particular small farms that did not benefit from surges of grain prices on international markets; in addition farmers benefiting from European Union Common Agricultural Policy support were affected, in particular the milk producers. The Consultation supported food sovereignty and improving food security as policy principles and proposed focused technical assistance to: (i) assist farmers in reviving investment and, in order to better access markets, improve environmental and animal welfare standards and quality, and (ii) support ministries of agriculture to incorporate climate change impacts-related policies for better management of land and water resources.

## DATE, PLACE AND MAIN THEME(S) OF THE TWENTY-EIGHTH FAO REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR EUROPE

- 64. The Regional Conference agreed that the next (28th) Regional Conference for Europe in 2012 be held in Baku, Azerbaijan.
- 65. The Meeting did not propose at this stage themes for the next Regional Conference.
- 66. Romania offered to host the 38th ECA and the 29th ERC Session in Romania in 2014.

#### **ANY OTHER BUSINESS**

67. The Independent Chairperson of the FAO Council thanked the Government of Armenia for hosting the 27th Session of the Regional Conference for Europe and invited the ERC Chairperson for consultations before his report on the outcome of the regional conferences would be submitted to the next FAO Council session to be held in November 2010.

#### ADOPTION OF THE REPORT

68. With some amendments, the text of the draft report was adopted by the Regional Conference.

#### **CLOSURE OF THE CONFERENCE**

- 69. The Regional Representative for Europe and Central Asia expressed her deep gratitude and appreciation for the warm and generous hospitality which the host Government had extended to all delegations. She thanked the delegations for their participation in the deliberations of the Session that represented an important milestone in the renewed work of the Organization. In addition, she extended her thanks to the secretariat for its work during the Regional Conference.
- 70. The Delegate of Switzerland, in his capacity as Vice Chairperson of the Regional Conference for Europe thanked the ERC Chairperson for his able guidance and assured those present to provide all the necessary support to carry out the new role of the ERC as a governing body of the Organization.
- 71. The Chairperson paid tribute to the active participation of all delegations which had enabled the Regional Conference to conclude its heavy agenda in a timely manner. In particular, he referred to the lively exchange of views which had taken place during the Ministerial Round Table and expressed the hope that future Conferences would continue to experience a high-level and enhanced participation from all the members of the Region. A number of delegations thanked the Government of Armenia, the secretariat and the NGOs, as well as the interpreters for their valuable support and effective participation during the Regional Conference.

#### **APPENDIX A**

#### LIST OF PARTICIPANTS LISTE DES PARTICIPANTS LISTA DE PARTICIPANTES CПИСОК УЧАСТНИКОВ

**Chairperson** Samvel AVETISYAN

**Président** (Armenia)

Presidente Председатель

**Vice-Chairpersons** Ms Hedwig WÖGERBAUER

Vice-Président(e)s (Austria)

Vicepresidentes Mr Hans-Jörg LEHMANN

Вице-председатели (Switzerland)

Independent Chairperson of the FAO Council Président indépendant du Conseil de la FAO Presidente Independiente del Consejo de la FAO Независимый председатель Совета ФАО Luc GUYAU

Chairperson, Committee on World Food Security

Noel DE LUNA

#### MEMBER NATIONS ÉTATS MEMBRES ESTADOS MIEMBROS СТРАНЫ-УЧАСТНИЦЫ

#### ALBANIA – ALBANIE – АЛБАНИЯ

#### **Delegate**

Ndoc FASLIA Deputy Minister for Agriculture Skanderbeg Square No 2 Tirana

Tel&Fax: +355 42 228 379 E-mail: ndocf@icc-al.org

#### ANDORRA – ANDORRE - АНДОРРА

#### ARMENIA – ARMÉNIE - АРМЕНИЯ

#### **Delegate**

H.E. Gerasim ALAVERDYAN Minister for Agriculture Ministry of Agriculture III Government Building Republic Square 375010 Yerevan

#### Alternates \*

Samvel AVETISYAN
First Deputy Minister for Agriculture
Ministry of Agriculture
III Government Building
Republic Square
375010 Yerevan
Tel: +374-10-524834

Fax: +374-10-524834

E-mail: samavets@yahoo.com

Arman KIRAKOSYAN

Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs Government House #2, Republic Square,

Yerevan 0010

Samvel GALSTYAN

Deputy Minister for Agriculture

Levon RUKHKYAN

Deputy Minister for Agriculture

Tigran PETROSYAN

Deputy Minister for Agriculture

Vardan KARAPETYAN

Deputy Minister for Agriculture

Andranik PETROSYAN \*

Head, Foreign Relations and Marketing

Department

Ministry of Agriculture

III Government Building

Republic Square 375010 Yerevan

Tel: +374-10-524610 Fax: +374-10-524610

E-mail: frdminagro@gmail.com

Zohrab MALEK \*

Ambassador of the Republic of Armenia to

FAO

Permanent Representation of the Republic of

Armenia to FAO

Via Camillo Sabatini 102

C.P.64194

00100 Rome, Italy Tel: + 39 06 5201924

Fax: +39 06 5201924

E-mail: zohrab.malek@gmail.com

Hrachik TSPNETSYAN

Head of Agriculture and Rural Social Development Planning Department

Ministry of Agriculture

Ashot HOVHANNISYAN Head of Cattle Breeding and Pedigree Affairs Department

Ministry of Agriculture

Gohar HAKOBYAN \*

Head of Foreign Relations Division

Foreign Relations and Marketing Department Ministry of Agriculture Khachik MANUKYAN Ministry of Agriculture

Martun MATEVOSYAN

Director of "ArmForest" SNCO

Ministry of Agriculture Mkrtich MURADYAN

Director

Republican Centre of Agriculture Support

Ministry of Agriculture

Hoghmik EGHIAZARYAN

Adviser to the Minister for Agriculture

Mikhail GRIGORYAN

Adviser to the Minister for Agriculture

Hmayak BESALYAN

Adviser to the Minister for Agriculture

Khanik PETROSYAN

Assistant to the Minister for Agriculture

Melanya BEGLARYAN

Assistant to the Minister for Agriculture

Baghyan GRISHA

Chief

Food Safety and Veterinary

State Inspectorate

Ministry of Agriculture

Nerses MKRTCHYAN

Head

International Economic Cooperation Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Grigor MELKONYAN

Adviser

International Economic Cooperation

Department

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Vladimir MOVSISYAN

**Executive Director** 

Forestry Rehabilitation and Development

Fund

Republic of Armenia

Arshaluys TARVERDYAN

Rector

State Agrarian University of Armenia

Armen KHOJOYAN

State Agrarian University of Armenia

Vardan URUTYAN

Dean of Agribusiness Faculty

State Agrarian University of Armenia

Khachik SARGSYAN \*

Director of "Cattle-Breeding and Veterinary

Scientific Centre" SNCO

Ministry of Agriculture

Samvel SAHAKYAN \*

Ministry of Agriculture

Konstantin KARAGYOZYAN

Academician

National Academy of Sciences

Ms Anna Cristina SCHIRINIAN

Director

"Tierras de Armenia" Ltd.

Ms Roza TSARUKYAN

Director

"Multi Agro" Scientific Production Centre

Gagik MATEVOSYAN

Director

"Rural Areas Economic Development"

**PAAU** 

Gagik SARDARYAN

Director of Center for Agribusiness and

Rural Development (CARD)

Ms Karen SAHAKYAN

Member of the Armenian Farmers' Union

Alvina AVAGYAN \*

**Deputy Director** 

Agricultural Reform Support PIU

54 B, Komitas Ave, 375014

Yerevan

#### AUSTRIA – AUTRICHE - АВСТРИЯ

#### Delegate \*

Ms Hedwig WÖGERBAUER

Director

Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry,

**Environment and Water Management** 

Stubenring 12

1012 Vienna

Tel: +43 1 711002812

Fax: +43 1 711002959

E-mail:

hedwig.woegerbauer@lebensministerium.at

#### Alternate

Ms Natalie FEISTRITZER

Permanent Representative of the Republic of

Austria to FAO

Via Pergolesi 3

00198 Rome, Italy

Tel: +39 06 84401431

Fax: +39 06 8543286

E-mail: natalie.feistritzer@bmeia.gv.at

#### AZERBAIJAN - AZERBAÏDJAN AZERBAIYÁN - АЗЕРБАЙДЖАН

#### **Delegate**

H.E. Ismat ABASOV

Minister for Agriculture

Ministry of Agriculture

Str.Uz. Hajibeyov 40

Government House

370016 Baku

Tel: +99412 4930884

Fax: +99412 4930884

E-mail: <a href="mailto:agry@azerin.com">agry@azerin.com</a>

#### **Alternates**

Rashad MAJIDOV \*

Deputy Head of the Department of

**International Cooperation** 

Ministry of Agriculture

Str.Uz. Hajibeyov 40

Government House

370016 Baku

Tel: +99412 4980259

### Ali BAYRAMOV

Chairman of the "Agri-Leasing" Joint Stock

Company

Ministry of Agriculture

Bakikhanov settlement, str.

Ziya Bunyado12, Baku

Tel: (+99450) 2101101

Fax: +994124256529

#### BELARUS – BÉLARUS – BELARÚS -БЕЛАРУСЬ

#### **Delegate**

Dmitry MIRONCHIK Alternate Permanent Representative of the Republic of Belarus to FAO

Via delle Alpi Alpuane 16

00141 Rome, Italy Tel: +393401894568 Fax: +390682002309

E-mail: belarus.commerciale@gmail.com

#### **Alternate**

Valerij BELSKY \*

Director of Institute of System Studies in Agro-Industrial Complex of the National Academy of Science

103, Kazintsa Str. 220108 Minsk

Tel.: + 375 17-212-04-33 Fax: + 375 172786921 E-mail: belskij@tut.by NC-FAO-BLR@fao.org

#### BELGIUM - BELGIQUE -BÉLGICA - БЕЛЬГИЯ

#### Déléguée

Mme Martine VAN DOOREN

Ministre Conseiller

Représentante permanente adjointe du

Royaume de Belgique auprès de la FAO Ambassade de Belgique

Via dei Monti Parioli 49

00197 Rome, Italie

Tel.: + 39 (0)6 36095135 Fax: +39 (0)6 3226935

E-mail: martine.vandooren@diplobel.fed.be

RomeFAO@diplobel.fed.be

#### Suppléant \*

**Robin THIERS** 

Policy Advisor

Flemish Government, Agriculture and

Fisheries Department Ellipsgebouw (7)

Koning Albert II-laan 35, bus 40

1030 Brussels

Tel: +32 (0) 2 552 79 57 Fax: +32 (0) 2 552.79.21

E-mail: robin.thiers@lv.vlaanderen.be

#### BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA BOSNIE-HERZÉGOVINE BOSNIA Y HERZEGOVINA БОСНИЯ И ГЕРПЕГОВИНА

#### Delegate \*

Dusan NESKOVIC Assistant Minister Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic Relations Obala Kulina Bana 1 71000 Sarajevo

Tel: +387 (0)33209819 Fax: +387 (0)33209819

E-mail: dusan.neskovic@mvteo.gov.ba

#### BULGARIA – BULGARIA -БОЛГАРИЯ

#### CROATIA - CROATIE - CROACIA -ХОРВАТИЯ

#### **Delegate**

Miroslav BOŽIĆ

Director

Directorate for Agricultural Policy and

**International Relations** 

Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and

Rural Development Ulica Grada Vukovara 78

HR10000 Zagreb

Tel: +385 1 6106206 Fax: +385 1 6109206

E-mail: m.bozic@mps.hr

#### Alternate

Ms Petra BADOVINAC

**Expert Counsellor** 

International Relations Department Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and

Rural Development

Ulica Grada Vukovara 78

HR10000 Zagreb

Tel: +385 1 6106726

Fax: +385 1 6109206

E-mail: <a href="mailto:petra.badovinac@mps.hr">petra.badovinac@mps.hr</a>

#### CYPRUS - CHYPRE - CHIPRE - КИПР

#### Delegate \*

Haris ZANNETIS
Principal Officer

Ministry of Agriculture, Natural Resources

and Environment

Nicosia

Tel: +35799493193 Fax: +35722774234

E-mail: hzanettis@moa.gov.cy

#### Alternate \*

Ms Christina PITTA

Alternate Permanent Representative of the

Republic of Cyprus to FAO

Permanent Representation of Cyprus

Piazza Farnese 44 00186 Rome, Italy Tel: +39 06 6865758 Fax: +39 06 68803756 E-mail: faoprcyp@tin.it

#### CZECH REPUBLIC -RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE -REPÚBLICA CHECA – ЧЕШСКАЯ РЕСПУБЛИКА

#### Delegate \*

Jiří MUCHKA

Permanent Representative of the

Czech Republic to FAO Via dei Gracchi 322 00192 Rome, Italy

Tel: +39 3357356292 Fax: +39 06 324 4466

E-mail: jiri\_muchka@mzv.cz

#### Alternate \*

Ms Kateřina TOMÁŠOVÁ

Secretary of the National FAO Committee

Trade and International Cooperation Department Ministry of Agriculture Těšnov 17

1esnov 1 / 117 05 Prague 1

Tel: +420 221 812392, +420 725 845 455

Fax: +420 224 810652

E-mail: <u>katerina.tomasova@mze.cz</u>

#### DENMARK - DANEMARK -DINAMARCA - ДАНИЯ

#### Delegate \*

Soren SKAFTE

Minister

Deputy Permanent Representative of the

Kingdom of Denmark to FAO Via dei Monti Parioli 50

00197 Rome, Italy Tel.: +39 06 9774831 Fax: +39 06 97748399 E-mail: sorska@um.dk

#### Alternate \*

Egill BOCCANERA Agricultural Attaché Royal Danish Embassy Via dei Monti Parioli 50 00197 Rome, Italy

Tel.: +39 06 9774831 Fax: +39 06 97748399 E-mail: <u>egiboc@um.dk</u>

#### ESTONIA - ESTONIE - ЭСТОНИЯ

#### **Delegate**

Ants NOOT
Secretary-General
Ministry of Agriculture
39/41 Lai Street
15056 Tallinn

Tel: +372 6256103 Fax: +372 6256200 E-mail: ants.noot@agri.ee

#### Alternates \*

Peeter SEESTRAND

Deputy Secretary-General for Foreign Affairs and Development 39/41 Lai Street

15056 Tallinn Tel: +372 6256103 Fax: 372 6256200

E-mail: peeter.seestrand@agri.ee

#### Ruve SCHANK

Minister Counsellor

Permanent Representative of the Republic of

Estonia to FAO Embassy of Estonia Viale Liegi 28, int. 5 00198 Rome, Italy Tel.: +3906844 07510

Fax: +3906844 07519 E-mail: ruve.schank@mfa.ee

EUROPEAN UNION – L'UNION EUROPÉENNE – LA UNIÓN EUROPEA – EBPOПЕЙСКИЙ СОЮЗ (MEMBER ORGANIZATION) (ORGANISATION MEMBRE) (ORGANIZACIÓN MIEMBRO) (ОРГАНИЗАЦИЯ-УЧАСТНИЦА)

#### Delegate \*

Leonard MIZZI Head of Unit

Directorate-General for Agriculture

European Commission Rue de la Loi 130 Brussels, Belgium Tel: 32(0)27634263 Fax: +32(0)2 29

Email: leonard.mizzi@ec.europa.eu

#### Alternate \*

Yves GAZZO

Ambassador

Permanent Representative of the EU to the

UN Organizations in Rome

Delegation of the European Union to FAO

Via IV Novembre, 149 00187 Rome, Italy Tel.: +39066797823 Fax: +39066797830

E-mail: delegation rome@ee.europa.eu

## FINLAND - FINLANDE – FINLANDIA - ФИНЛЯНДИЯ

#### Delegate \*

Veli-Pekka TALVELA
Director-General
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry
Hallituskatu 3A
P.O. Box 30
FI-00023 Helsinki
Fax: +358 9 16052201

E-mail: veli-pekka.talvela@mmm.fi

#### Alternates \*

Ms Riikka LAATU Minister Counsellor Permanent Representative of the Republic of Finland to FAO Embassy of the Republic of Finland

Via Lisbona 3 00198 Rome, Italy Tel.: +39 06 85223318 Fax: +39 06 8540362

E-mail: riikka.laatu@formin.fi

Ms Anna SANTALA \*

Senior Officer

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

Hallituskatu 3A P.O. Box 30 FI-00023 Helsinki Fax: +358 9 16052201

E-mail: anna.santala@mmm.fi

#### FRANCE – FRANCIA - ФРАНЦИЯ

#### Déléguée

Mme Mireille GUIGAZ \*

Ambassadeur

Représentante permanente de la France

auprès de l'OAA Piazza dell'Orologio 12 00186 Rome, Italie

Tel: +39 06 68 429 800 Fax: +39 06 68 429 802

E-mail: mireille.guigaz@diplomatie.gouv.fr

#### **Suppléantes**

Mme Christine TON NU \*
Conseiller scientifique

Représentation Permanente de la France

auprès de l'OAA

Corso del Rinascimento 52

00186 Rome, Italie Tel: +3990668429800 Fax: +3906 68429802

 $E\text{-}mail: \underline{christine.tonnu@diplomatie.gouv.fr}$ 

#### Mme Mylène TESTUT

Chef du bureau du développement et des organisations internationales

Ministère de l'alimentation, de l'agriculture

et de la pêche 3 rue Barbet de Jouy 75349 Paris 07 SP Tel: +33 1 49554866 Fax: +33 1 49555942

E-mail: mylene.testut@agriculture.gouv.fr

Jean-Jacques SOULA \*
Inspecteur géneral
Ministère de l'alimentation, de l'agriculture
et de la pêche
3 rue Barbet de Jouy
75349 Paris 07 SP

Tel: + Fax: +

E-mail: jean-jacques.soula@agriculture.gouv.fr

Mme Elisabeth DAHAN
Directeur des relations internationales
Conseil économique, social et
environnemental de France
9 Place d'Iéna
75016 Paris

Fax: +31 1 44436048

E-mail: Elisabeth.dahan@ces.fr

#### GEORGIA – GÉORGIE - ГРУЗИЯ

#### **Delegate**

Malkhaz AKISHBAIA Deputy Minister for Agriculture Ministry of Agriculture 6 Marshall Gelovani Avenue 0159 Tbilisi

Tel: +995 32 378005 Fax: +995 32 378006

Email: akishbaia@moa.gov.ge

#### **Alternate**

Omar KACHARAVA
Advisor to the Minister of Agriculture
of Georgia
Ministry of Agriculture
6 Marshall Gelovani Avenue
0159 Tbilisi

Tel: +995 32 378018 Fax: +995 32 378006

Email: ekaterine74@yahoo.com

#### GERMANY - ALLEMAGNE -ALEMANIA – ГЕРМАНИЯ

#### Delegate \*

Ms Elisa MANUKJAN

Desk Officer

Federal Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Consumer Protection

Wilhelmstrasse 54

D-10117 Berlin Tel: +4930185294804

Fax: +4930185293276

E-mail: elisa.manukjan@bmelv.bund.de

#### Alternate \*

Ms Swantje HELBING
Deputy Permanent Representative
Permanent Representation of the Republic of
Germany to FAO and other
International Organizations
Via San Martino della Battaglia 4
00185 Rome, Italy

Tel: +3949213292

E-mail: v-io@rom.auswaertiges-amt.de

#### GREECE - GRÈCE – GRECIA – ГРЕЦИЯ

#### **Delegate**

Ioannis KORINTHIOS Ambassador of Greece in Armenia 6 Demirchian st. 37002 Yerevan

#### **Alternates**

Alekos IKONOMOPULOS First Counsellor Embassy of Greece in Armenia 6 Demirchian st. 37002 Yerevan

Ioannis DERMENTZOGOU \*
Counsellor for Economic and
Commercial Affairs
Embassy of Greece in Armenia
6 Demirchian st.
37002 Yerevan

#### HUNGARY - HONGRIE – HUNGRÍA – ВЕНГРИЯ

#### **Delegate**

Zoltan KALMAN
Deputy Head of Department
Department of EU Coordination and
International Relations
Ministry of Agriculture and
Rural Development
Kossuth Lajos-tér 11
1860 Budapest V
Tel: +361 3014135
Fax: +361 3014669

E-mail: elelmiszerlancfszat@fvm.gov.hu

#### Alternate \*

Balazs HAMAR

Permanent Representative of the Republic

of Hungary to FAO

Embassy of the Republic of Hungary

Via Luigi Lilio 59, c/10 00142 Rome, Italy Tel: +39 06 5190116

Fax: +39 06 97256859

Email: <a href="mailto:hufaorep@gmail.com">hufaorep@gmail.com</a>

#### ICELAND - ISLANDE – ISLANDIA – ИСЛАНДИЯ

#### IRELAND – IRLANDE – IRLANDA – ИРЛАНДИЯ

Jarlath Thomas O'CONNOR \*

Deputy Permanent Representative of Ireland

to FAO

Embassy of Ireland Piazza di Campitelli 3 00186 Rome, Italy Tel. +39 06 6979121

Fax +39 06 6979121

E-mail: jarlath.oconnor@dfa.ie

#### ISRAEL – ISRAËL – ИЗРАИЛЬ

#### **Delegate**

Ms Gila LIVNAT-ROSINER Counsellor for Economic and Scientific Affairs Embassy of Israel Via Michele Mercati 14 00195 Rome, Italy

Tel: +39 0636198551-673 Fax: +39 0636198555

E-mail: <a href="mailto:economy@roma.mfa.gov.il">economy@roma.mfa.gov.il</a></a>
<a href="mailto:economy@roma.mfa.gov.il">economy@roma.mfa.gov.il</a></a>

#### ITALY - ITALIE - ITALIA - ИТАЛИЯ

#### Delegate \*

Pietro SEBASTIANI

Ambassador of the Republic of Italy to FAO Permanent Representative of the Republic

of Italy to FAO Piazza Margana 1 00186 Rome, Italy Tel: +39 066977961 Fax: +39 066786798

E-mail: rapp.ita.onu.rm@esteri.it

pietro.sebastiani@esteri.it

#### **Alternates**

Paolo DUCCI

Director

Office for United Nations Rome-based

Agencies

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

P.le Farnesina 1 00194 Rome, Italy Tel: +39 0636915991 Fax: +39 0636913660

E-mail: paolo.ducci@esteri.it

Ms Marina CALVINO \*

Italian National FAO Committee Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

Via XX Settembre, 20

00187 Rome Italy

E-mail: m.calvino@politicheagricole.gov.it

Stefano CILLI \*

Member of the Delegation

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

Via XX Settembre 20

00187 Rome

Italy

E-mail: s.cilli@politicheagricole.gov.it

#### KAZAKHSTAN – KAZAJSTAN – KA3AXCTAH

#### **Delegate**

Ms Aynur ARDABAYEVA

Director

Administration of the Department of Strategic Planning and Innovation Policies

of the Agro-Business Complex

Ministry of Agriculture

Astana

Tel: +7 7172 555-922 Mob.: +7 777 471-94-10 E-mail: <u>ainur\_min@mail.ru</u>

#### KYRGYZSTAN – KIRGHIZISTAN – KIRGUISTÁN – КЫРГЫЗСТАН

#### Delegate \*

Mores Sharshenalievich ALIMBEKOV Head of Department of Crop Production

and Land

Ministry of Agriculture 96/A Kievskaya Street Bishkek 720040 Tel: +996312623633

Fax: +996312623632

E-mail: agroprod@agroprod.kg

alimbekov58@mail.ru

#### Alternate \*

Malik Murzabekovich MALABAEV Head of Agrarian Policy and

Investment Department Ministry of Agriculture

96/A Kievskaya Street Bishkek 720040

Tel: +996312623644 Fax: +996312623632

E-mail: agroprod@agroprod.kg

#### LATVIA - LETTONIE – LETONIA – ЛАТВИЯ

#### LITHUANIA - LITUANIE – LITUANIA – ЛИТВА

#### **Delegate**

Mindaugas KUKLIERIUS

Vice Minister

Ministry of Agriculture

19 Gedimino av. LT-01103 Vilnius

Tel: +370 5 239 1002 Fax: +370 5 239 1116

E-mail: mindaugask@zum.lt

#### **Alternate**

Ms Snieguole Andruskaite

MIKALIUNIENE
Chief Specialist

Chief Specialist

International Affairs Department

Export Promotion Division 19 Gedimino av.

LT-01103 Vilnius Tel: +370 5 239 1125 Fax: +370 5 239 1116 E-mail: snieguole@zum.lt

LUXEMBOURG – LUXEMBURGO –

MALTA – MALTE – MAЛЬTA

MONACO - MOHAKO

ЛЮКСЕМБУРГ

#### MONTENEGRO – MONTÉNÉGRO – ЧЕРНОГОРИЯ

#### Delegate \*

Branko BULATOVIĆ Deputy Minister

Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and

Water Management Rimski TRG 46 81000 Podgorica Tel: +38220482263

Fax:+38220234306

E-mail: branko.bulatovic@gov.me

#### Alternate \*

Branimir VUJAČIĆ

Secretary

Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and

Water Management Rimski TRG 46 81000 Podgorica Tel: +38220482107 Fax: +38220234306

E-mail: branimir.vujacic@gov.me

#### NETHERLANDS - PAYS-BAS – PAÍSES BAJOS – НИДЕРЛАНДЫ

#### Delegate \*

Ronald ELKHUIZEN

Counsellor

Deputy Permanent Representative of the Kingdom of the Netherlands to FAO

Via delle Terme Deciane 6

00153 Rome, Italy Tel: +39065740366 Fax: +39065744927

E-mail: ronald.elkhuizen@minbuza.nl

Alternate \*

Ms Teddie MUFFELS

Senior Advisor, Food Security International Affairs Department Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and

Food Quality Prins Clauslean 8 P.O. Box 20401 2500 EK, The Hague Tel: +31703784237

E-mail: teddie.muffels@minlnv.nl

#### NORWAY - NORVÈGE – NORUEGA – HOPBEГИЯ

#### POLAND - POLOGNE – POLONIA – ПОЛЬША

#### **Delegate**

Andrzej HALASIEWICZ \*

**Deputy Director** 

Foundation of Assistance Programmes

for Agriculture (FAPA)

ul. Wspólna 30 00-930 Warsaw Tel: +48 22 6231515 Fax: +48 22 6231909

E-mail: a.halasiewicz@fapa.org.pl

#### **Alternate**

Andrzej SZMIDTKE \*
First Secretary
Polish Embassy
Hanrapetutyan 44 A
Yerevan

#### PORTUGAL – ПОРТУГАЛИЯ

#### REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA RÉPUBLIQUE DE MOLDOVA REPÚBLICA DE MOLDOVA РЕСПУБЛИКА МОЛДОВА

#### **Delegate**

Stefan CHITOROAGA

Deputy Minister for Agriculture and

Food Industry

Ministry of Agriculture and Food Industry

162 Stefan cel Mare Blvd

MD 2004 Chisinau Tel: +37322 210144 Fax: +37322 210204

#### **Alternate**

Ms Diana GHERMAN FAO National Correspondent

Consultant

Directorate for Policy Analysis, Monitoring and Evaluation

Ministry of Agriculture and Food Industry

162 Stefan cel Mare Blvd MD 2012 Chisinau

Tel: +373 22 210 135 Fax: +373 22 210 135

E-mail: digherman@yahoo.com

#### ROMANIA - ROUMANIE – RUMANIA – РУМЫНИЯ

#### Delegate

Andrei Peter HASCHI Secretary of State Ministry of Agriculture, Forests and Rural Development

Carol I Avenue, No 24 Bucharest 020921 Tel: +40213072490

Fax: +40213120478

E-mail: andrei.haschi@madr.ro

#### Alternates

Mihai CONSTANTINESCU Counsellor to the Minister Ministry of Agriculture, Forests and Rural Development Carol I Avenue, No 24

Bucharest, District 3 Tel: +4021 3072321 Fax: +4021 3120478

E-mail: mihai.constantinescu@madr.ro

Marius Florescu CIOBOTARU \*

Second Secretary Embassy of Romania

Yerevan Tel: +374 Fax: +374

E-mail: mihai.constantinescu@madr.ro

#### RUSSIAN FEDERATION – FÉDÉRATION DE RUSSIE – FEDERACIÓN DE RUSIA – POCCИЙСКАЯ ФЕДЕРАЦИЯ

#### Delegate \*

Vladimir KUZNETSOV

Deputy Permanent Representative of the Russian Federation to FAO and WFP Embassy of the Russian Federation to Italy Via Gaeta 5

00185 Rome, Italy

Tel: +39 06 494 1680/81/83/49

Fax. +39 06 491 031

Email: vkuznetsovit@mail.ru

#### **Alternates**

Vladimir Valerievich CHERNIGOV

Deputy Director

Department of International Cooperation

Ministry of Agriculture

1/11 Orlikov per. officer of the Embassy of

Russia in Armenia Moscow 107139 Tel: +8 495 607 88 36 Fax: +8 499 975 13 34

E-mail: v.chernigov@ud.mcx.ru

u.lukashova@gmail.com

Oleg KOBYAKOV \*

Counsellor

FAO and WFP Unit Department for

International Organizations Ministry of Foreign Affairs

32/34 Smolenskaya- Sennaya ploshad

Moscow

Tel: +7 9037395153 Fax. +7499 2442401

Email: kobiakov@hotmail.com

Vasily LAVROVSKIY \*

Embassy of the Russian Federation to the

European Union 31-33 Bvd du Regent 1000 Brussels, Belgium Tel: +(+32) 475413895

Fax: +

E-mail: agrodip@mail.ru

Sergev KASHIRIN \*

Counsellor

Embassy of the Russia Federation

in Armenia

13a G. Lusavorich str.

Yerevan

Tel: +098 727 969 Fax: +567197

E-mail: rossia@arminco.com

#### SAN MARINO - SAINT-MARIN – CAH-MAPИНО

Delegate \*

Mrs Daniela ROTONDARO

Counsellor

Permanent Representative of the Republic of

San Marino to FAO Via Eleonora Duse, 35 00197 Rome, Italy

Tel.: +39 06 8072511/5131 Fax: +39 06 8070072

E-mail: ambsmarinofao@ambrsm.it

#### SERBIA – SERBIE – СЕРБИЯ

#### SLOVAKIA – SLOVAQUIE ESLOVAQUIA – СЛОВАКИЯ

Delegate \*

Juraj KUBRICKÝ State Counsellor Ministry of Agriculture

Dobrovičova 12 812 66 Bratislava

Tel: +421259266287 Fax: +421252963602

E-mail: juraj.kubricky@land.gov.sk

Alternate \*

Lubomír MIČEK

Permanent Representative of the

Slovak Republic to FAO

Embassy of the Slovak Republic

Via dei Colli della Farnesina 144

00194 Rome, Italy

Tel: +39 06 367 15 206, +39 3393718432

Fax: +39 06 367 15 266 Email: <u>lubomir.micek@mzv.sk</u> lubomir\_micek@mfa.sk

#### SLOVENIA - SLOVÉNIE – ESLOVENIA – СЛОВЕНИЯ

#### **Delegate**

Leon MEGUŠAR

Advisor

Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Food

Dunajska 22 1000 Ljubljana Tel: +386 1 4789111 Fax: +386 1 4789155

Email: <a href="mailto:leon.megusar@gov.si">leon.megusar@gov.si</a>

#### SPAIN - ESPAGNE – ESPAÑA – ИСПАНИЯ

#### Delegado

Santiago MENÉNDEZ DE LUARCA Y

NAVIA-OSORIO

Subsecretario de Medio Ambiente,

Medio Rural y Marino

Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, Medio Rural

y Marino

P Infanta Isabel No. 1 28071 Madrid Tel: +3491 3475185

Fax: +3491 468 5179

E-mail: secretaria.subsecretaria@mapya.es

#### Alternos

Sra Alicia CAMACHO GARCÍA Secretaria General Técnica Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, Medio Rural y Marino

P° Infanta Isabel No. 1 28071 Madrid

Tel: +3491 3475131 Fax: +3491 468 5179 E-mail: rai@mapya.es

Antonio LIZCANO PALOMARES \*
Jefe de Area de Organismos Multilaterales

S.G. de Relaciones Internacionales y

**Asuntos Comunitarios** 

Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, Medio Rural

y Marino

P. Infanta Isabel, 1 Madrid, PC 28071 Tel: +3491 3475079 Fax: +3491 4685179

E-mail: alizcano@marm.es

Elias Guia LOPEZ \*
Agregado de Agricultura

Representación Permanente de España ante la FAO y el Programa Mundial de Alimentos

Largo dei Lombardi 21 00186 Rome, Italy Tel: +39 06687 8762 Fax: +39066873076

E-mail: eliasguia@tiscali.it

Almudena MÍNGUEZ MATORRAS \*

Jefe de Servicio Relaciones Internacionales Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, Medio Rural

y Marino

P. Infanta Isabel, 1 Madrid, PC 28071 Tel: +3491 3473848 Fax: +3491 468 5179

E-mail: aminguez@mapa.es

Juan LOPEZ-HERRERA

Deputy Director General for International Technical Organizations Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Cooperation

Serrano Galuache 26 28033 Madrid

Tel: +34913791735-36 Fax: +34913948649

E-Mail: juan lopezh@maec.es

#### SWEDEN - SUÈDE – SUECIA – ШВЕЦИЯ

#### **Delegate**

Tomas DAHLMAN \*
Deputy Director-General
Ministry of Agriculture,
Fredsgatan 8

S 103-33 Stockholm Tel: +46 8 405 1135

E-mail:

tomas.dahlman@agriculture.ministry.se

#### Alternates \*

Ms Cecilia Nordin VAN GANSBERGHE

Ambassador

Permanent Representative of the Kingdom of Sweden to FAO

Embassy of Sweden Piazza Rio de Janeiro 3, 00161 Rome, Italy Tel:+393356404603

Fax: +39(0)6 44194762

E-mail: cecilia.nordin-van-gansberghe@

foreing.ministry.se

Malin JÖRNEHAG

**Deputy Director** 

Secretariat for EU Coordination and

International Affairs Ministry of Agriculture, Fredsgatan 8 S 103-33 Stockholm

Tel: +46 8 405 2799

E-mail:

malin.jornehag@agriculture.ministry.se

Andreas DAVELID \*
Trade Policy Officer
Swedish Board of Agriculture
551 82 Jönköping

Tel: +46 36 155609

E-mail: andreas.davelid@jordbruksverket.se

#### SWITZERLAND - SUISSE – SUIZA – ШВЕЙЦАРИЯ

#### Délégué \*

Hans-Jörg LEHMANN

Représentant permanent de la Suisse auprès

de la FAO, du FIDA et du PAM

Représentation permanente de la Suisse auprès de la FAO, du FIDA e du PAM

Via Aventina 32 00153 Rome, Italie Tel: +39 06 895 815 21

Fax: +39 06 895 815 99

E-mail: hans-joerg.lehmann@eda.admin.ch

#### Suppléants

Hubert POFFET \*

Collaborateur scientifique

Section Agriculture durable internationale Office fédéral de l'agriculture OFAG

Mattenhofstrasse 5 CH-3003 Berne

Téléphone: +41 31 3251700

Fax: +41 31 322 2634

E-mail: hubert.poffet@blw.admin.ch

Mme Zara ALLAHVERDYAN Senior National Programme Officer Swiss Cooperation Office for the South Caucasus, Branch Office Armenia 1st Koryun Lane, building 11, apt. 16

Yerevan 0025

Tel/Fax: +374 10 52 40 88

Email: Zara.Allahverdyan@sdc.am;

yerevan@sdc.am

#### TAJIKISTAN – TADJIKISTAN – TAYIKISTÁN – ТАДЖИКИСТАН

#### Delegate \*

Sijoudin ISROILOV Deputy Minister Ministry of Agriculture Rudani Avenue 44

Dushanbe

Tel: +992372217118 Fax: +9923722211628

Email: <u>kishovarz\_2008@mail.ru</u>

#### Alternate \*

Akhmadzhon GAFUROV Head of Agriculture Department Ministry of Agriculture Rudani Avenue 44 Dushanbe

Tel: +992372216351 Email: <u>rus\_ibr@mail.ru</u> THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA - L'EX RÉPUBLIQUE YOUGOSLAVE DE MACÉDOINE - LA EX REPÚBLICA YUGOSLAVA DE MACEDONIA -БЫВШАЯ ЮГОСЛАВСКАЯ РЕСПУБЛИКА МАКЕДОНИЯ

#### **Delegate**

Besir JASARI State Secretary

Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and

Water Economy Jurij Gagarin' No. 15 1000 Skopje

Tel: + 38976445054 Fax: + 38923119815

Email: besir.jasari@mzsv.gov.mk

#### Alternate

Ms Lidija CADIKOVSKA
Head of Department for
International Cooperation
Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Water Economy
Jurij Gagarin' No. 15
1000 Skopje

Tel: +38976446206 Fax: +38923119815

E-mail: cadikovska.lidija@mzsv.gov.mk

#### TURKEY - TURQUIE – TURQUÍA – ТУРЦИЯ

#### Delegate \*

Fazil DUSUNCELI Agricultural Counsellor Alternate Permanent Representative Embassy of Turkey Via Palestro 28, 00185 Rome, Italy Tel: +393200341015

Email: turkishagri.rome@yahoo.com

Fax: +3906 4941526

#### TURKMENISTAN – TURKMÉNISTAN – TURKMENISTÁN – ТУРКМЕНИСТАН

#### UKRAINE – UCRANIA – УКРАИНА

#### **Delegate**

Sergii IVASHCHUK Head of the Department of Foreign Economic Relations Ministry of Agricultural Policy 24, Kreshchatik str. Kiev 01001

#### Alternate

Ms Oksana RYUMINA Head of Division Department of International Organizations and Coordination of International Projects Ministry of Agricultural Policy 24, Kreshchatik str. Kiev 01001

UNITED KINGDOM -ROYAUME UNI - REINO UNIDO – ОБЪЕДИНЕННОЕ КОРОЛЕВСТВО

UZBEKISTAN – OUZBÉKISTAN – UZBEKISTÁN – Y36EKUCTAH

#### ASSOCIATE MEMBER MEMBRE ASSOCIE MEMBRO ASOCIADO ACCOПИИРОВАННЫЙ ЧЛЕН

FAROE ISLANDS ÎLES FÉROÉ (LES) ISLAS FEROES ΦΑΡΕΡСΚИΕ ОСТРОВА

# OBSERVERS FROM MEMBER NATIONS NOT IN THE REGION OBSERVATEURS D'ÉTATS MEMBRES N'APPARTENANT PAS À LA REGION OBSERVADORES DE LOS ESTADOS MIEMBROS QUE NO PERTENECEN A LA REGION НАБЛЮДАТЕЛИ ИЗ СТРАН-УЧАСТНИЦ ЗА ПРЕДЕЛАМИ РЕГИОНА

## UNITED STATES OF AMERICA - ÉTATS-UNIS D'AMÉRIQUE - ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMÉRICA - СОЕДИНЕННЫЕ ШТАТЫ АМЕРИКИ

Frederic JOHNSTON Agricultural Project Coordinator Embassy of the United States of America US Department of Agriculture 1 American Ave. 0082 Yerevan

Tel: + 374-10 58-34-20, 374-10) 54-58-96

Fax: 374-10) 58-79-32 E-mail: kgrig@usda.am

# OBSERVERS FROM UNITED NATIONS MEMBER STATES OBSERVATEURS D'ÉTATS MEMBRES DES NATIONS UNIES OBSERVADORES DE LOS ESTADOS MIEMBROS DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS НАБЛЮДАТЕЛИ ИЗ СТРАН-УЧАСТНИЦ ООН

#### HOLY SEE - SAINT-SIÈGE - SANTE SEDE – ВАТИКАН

Monseigneur Renato VOLANTE \*
Conseiller de Nonciature
Observateur permanent du Saint-Siège auprès de la FAO
Bureau de l'Observateur permanent du Saint-Siège auprès de la FAO
Palazzo San Calisto
Piazza San Calisto 16
00120 Cité du Vatican
Rome, Italie

Tel: +39 0669887234/151 Fax: +39 0669887195 E-mail: osserfao@mhsfao.va

SOVEREIGN ORDER OF MALTA - ORDRE SOUVERAIN DE MALTE -ORDEN SOBERANA DE MALTA – СУВЕРЕННЫЙ МАЛЬТИЙСКИЙ ОРДЕН

# REPRESENTATIVES OF UNITED NATIONS AND SPECIALIZED AGENCIES REPRÉSENTANTS DES NATIONS UNIES ET INSTITUTIONS SPÉCIALISÉES REPRESENTANTES DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS Y ORGANISMOS ESPECIALIZADOS — ПРЕДСТАВИТЕЛИ ОРГАНИЗАЦИИ ОБЪЕДИНЕННЫХ НАЦИЙ И СПЕЦИАЛИЗИРОВАННЫХ АГЕНТСТВ

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY (IAEA)
AGENCE INTERNATIONALE DE L'ÉNERGIE ATOMIQUE (AIEA)
ORGANISMO INTERNACIONAL DE ENERGÍA ATÓMICA (OIEA)
МЕЖДУНАРОДНОЕ АГЕНТСТВО ПО АТОМНОЙ ЭНЕРГИИ (МАГАТЭ)

Qu LIANG \*

Director

Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear Techniques in Food and Agriculture

Department of Technical Cooperation

International Atomic Energy Agency

Wagramer Strasse 5

P.O. Box 100

1400 Vienna, Austria

Tel: +43 1 2600 21610 Fax: +43 1 260029332

E-mail: q.liang@iaea.org

Ms Alessia Maria RODRIGUEZ Y BAENA

Programme Management Officer

Department of Technical Cooperation

Division for Europe

International Atomic Energy Agency

Wagramer Strasse 5

P.O. Box 100

1400 Vienna, Austria Tel: +43 1 2600 22329

Fax: +43 1 26007

E-mail: A.M.Rodriguez@iaea.org

INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANIZATION (ILO) ORGANISATION INTERNATIONALE DU TRAVAIL (OIT) ORGANIZACIÓN INTERNACIONAL DEL TRABAJO (OIT) МЕЖДУНАРОДНАЯ ОРГАНИЗАЦИЯ ТРУДА (МОТ)

Ms Nune HOVHANNISYAN \*

National Coordinator

Government House 3

Ministry of Labour and Social Issues

14 Petros Adamyan str.

0010 Yerevan, Republic of Armenia

Tel: +374 10 543561

Email: hovhannisyan@ilo.org

Ms Elizabeth TINOCO \*

Director

Sectoral Activities Department International Labour Office

4 Route de Morillons

CH-1211 Geneva 22

Switzerland

Tel: +41.22.799.6659 Fax: +41 22799 7050 E-mail: tinoco@ilo.org

Erick ZEBALLOS \*

Sector Specialist

Food, Drink and Tobacco Industries Sectoral Activities Department

International Labour Office

4 Route de Morillons

CH-1211 Geneva 22

Switzerland

Tel: +41.22.799.6479 Fax: +41 22.799.7050 E-mail: zeballos@ilo.org

## UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (UNDP) PROGRAMMES DES NATIONS UNIES POUR LE DÉVELOPPEMENT (PNUD) PROGRAMA DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS PARA EL DASARROLLO (PNUD)

Ms Dafina Gercheva UN Resident Coordinator UNDP Resident Representative United Nations House 14 Petros Adamyan Street Yerevan 375010 Armenia

Tel: (37410) 56 60 73 Fax: (37410) 54 38 11

E-mail: registry.am@undp.org

## UNITED NATIONS ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (UNEP) PROGRAMME DES NATIONS POUR L'ENVIRONNEMENT (PNUE)

Matthias JUREK \*

Interim Secretariat of the Carpathian Convention

Tel. +43 6502482698, Fax. +43 1 260 60 75338

E-mail: Matthias.JUREK@unvienna.org

UNITED NATIONS CHILDREN'S FUND (UNICEF)
FONDS DES NATIONS UNIES POUR L'ENFANCE (UNICEF)
FONDO DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS PARA LA INFANCIA (UNICEF)
ДЕТСКИЙ ФОНД ООН (ЮНИСЕФ)

Ms Laylee MOSHIRI \*
Representative for Armenia
UNICEF Armenia
UN Building
14 Petros Adamyan Street
Yerevan 0010

Tel: +374-914 06029 E-mail: yerevan@unicef.org Lmoshiri@unicef.org

UNITED NATIONS INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATION (UNIDO)
ORGANISATION DES NATIONS UNIES POUR LE DÉVELOPPEMENT INDUSTRIEL
(ONUDI)
ORGANIZACIÓN DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS BARA EL DESARROLLO.

ORGANIZACIÓN DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS PARA EL DESARROLLO INDUSTRIAL (ONUDI) ОРГАНИЗАЦИЯ ОБЪЕДИНЕННЫХ НАЦИЙ ПО ПРОМЫШЛЕННОМУ РАЗВИТИЮ (ЮНИДО)

Ms Anahit SIMONYAN Head of UNIDO Operations in Armenia UN Building 14 Petros Adamyan Street Yerevan 0010

E-mail: A.Simonyan@unido.org

WORLD BANK BANQUE MONDIALE BANCO MUNDIAL ВСЕМИРНЫЙ БАНК

Jean-Jacques Franc de FERRIERE \*
Agriculture Consultant
Rescad PIU Office
Yerevan

WORLD FOOD PROGRAMME (WFP)
PROGRAMME ALIMENTAIRE MONDIAL (PAM)
PROGRAMA MUNDIAL DE ALIMENTOS (PMA)
ВСЕМИРНАЯ ПРОДОВОЛЬСТВЕННАЯ ПРОГРАММА (ВПП)

Daly BELGASMI
Regional Director
World Food Programme Regional Bureau
for the Middle East, Central Asia and Eastern Europe
P.O. Box 1265 Maadi
11431 Cairo, Egypt
Tel. +(202)25281730

Fax: + (202)25281735

E-mail: hanaa.ibrahim@wfp.org

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO)
ORGANISATION MONDIALE DE LA SANTÉ (OMS)
ORGANIZACIÓN MUNDIAL DE LA SALUD (OMS)
ВСЕМИРНАЯ ОРГАНИЗАЦИЯ ЗДРАВООХРАНЕНИЯ (ВОЗ)

Ms Yelizabet DANIELYAN \*
Head of the WHO Country Office in Armenia
Alek Manukyan 9
Yerevan 0070

Tel: +37410 51 20 04 Fax: +37410 51 2013

E-mail: edanielyan@who.am

Ms Irina PAPIEVA \*

Programme Coordinator for Health Systems/Disaster Preparedness and Response WHO Country Office in Armenia Alek Manukyan 9
Yereyan 0070

Tel: +37410 51 20 04 Fax: +37410 51 2013 E-mail: ipapieva@who.am

OBSERVERS FROM INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS (IGOs)
OBSERVATEURS DES ORGANISATIONS INTERGOUVERNEMENTALES (OIGs)
OBSERVADORES DE LAS ORGANIZACIONES INTERGUBERNAMENTALES (OIGs)
НАБЛЮДАТЕЛИ ИЗ МЕЖПРАВИТЕЛЬСТВЕННЫХ ОРГАНИЗАЦИЙ

COUNCIL OF THE EUROPEAN UNION CONSEIL DE L'UNION EUROPÉENNE CONSEJO DE LA UNION EUROPEA COBET EBPOПЫ

Jean-Pierre SABSOUB \*
Administrator
Council of the European Union
26 Rue le Tintoret
1000 Brussels, Belgium
Tel.:+322 281 7228

Fax:+32 2 2817227

E-mail: jean-pierre.sabsoub@consilium.europa.eu

Ms Floris Lise POULSEN \*
Assistant
General Secretariat of the Council
Av. General de Longueville 7
1150 Brussels, Belgium
Tel.:+32473 864115

E-mail: lise.poulsen-floris@consilium.europa.eu

#### **EURASIAN ECONOMIC COMMUNITY**

Sergei TSEDRIK
Deputy Director
Economic Policy Department
1st Basmanny lane 6/4
105066 Moscow

Tel.: +7495 223 9000 Fax.: +7495 223 9019 Email: dep@evrazes.com

## REGIONAL RURAL DEVELOPMENT STANDING WORKING GROUP IN SOUTH-EAST EUROPE (SWG)

Boban ILIC \*
Secretary General
3-ta Makedonska Brigada bb
P.O. Box 659
1000 Skopje
TfYR Macedonia

Tel: +389 2 3217708 Fax: +389 2 3217244

E-mail: swgsecretariat@swg-seerural.org

Ms Katerina SPASOVSKA \*
Project Manager
3-ta Makedonska Brigada bb
P.O. Box 659
1000 Skopje
TfYR Macedonia

Tel: +389 2 3217708 Fax: +389 2 3217244

E-mail: <a href="mailto:swgsecretariat@swg-seerural.org">swgsecretariat@swg-seerural.org</a>

## WORLD ORGANISATION FOR ANIMAL HEALTH (OIE) ORGANISATION MONDIALE DE LA SANTÉ ANIMALE ORGANIZACIÓN MUNDIAL DE SANIDAD ANIMAL BCEMUPHAЯ ЗООВЕТЕРИНАРНАЯ ОРГАНИЗАЦИЯ

Nilton Antonio DE MORAIS \*
Veterinary/Project Officer of the Regional Activities Department
World Organisation for Animal Health
12 Rue de Prony
75017 Paris, France
Tel: +33-1 44 15 18 54

Fax: +33-1 42 67 09 87 E-mail: n.morais@oie.int

## OBSERVERS FROM NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS OBSERVATEURS DES ORGANISATIONS NON GOUVERNEMENTALES OBSERVADORES DE LAS ORGANIZACIONES NO GUBERNAMENTALES НАБЛЮДАТЕЛИ ИЗ НЕПРАВИТЕЛЬСТВЕННЫХ ОРГАНИЗАЦИЙ

#### ARMENIAN WOMEN FOR HEALTH AND HEALTHY ENVIRONMENT

Ms Lusine NALBANDYAN Agro-Ecologist Baghramyan 24 d, room 609 0019 Yerevan, Armenia

Email: <u>lusinenalbandyan@yahoo.com</u>

Ms Elena MANVELYAN

President

Tel: +374 91 21 89 95 Email: office@awhhe.am

#### **BIOVERSITY INTERNATIONAL**

Jozef TUROK \*
Regional Director, Europe
Via Dei Tre Denari 472/A
00057 Maccarese
Rome, Italy

Tel: +3906 6118261 Fax: +390661979661 Email: j.turok@cgiar.org

#### COLLECTIF STRATÉGIES ALIMENTAIRES (CONCORD)

Daniel VAN DER STEEN

Coordinateur

184d Boulevard Léopold II 1080 Bruxelles, Belgique Tel: +32 24120663 Fax: +32 24120666

Email: daniel.vandersteen@csa-be.org

Ms Julie FLAMENT

184d Boulevard Léopold II 1080 Bruxelles, Belgium Tel: +32 24120662 Fax: +32 24120666 Mobile: +32472715525

Email: julie.flament@csa-be.org

#### **COPA-COGECA**

Shelby MATTHEWS Chief Policy Advisor COPA-COGECA Belgium 61 rue de Trèves

1040 Brussels, Belgium Tel: +32 473663071

Fax: +3222872700

E-mail: shelby.matthews@copa cogeca.eu

#### **ECORURALIS**

Wilhelm SCHUSTER

Cetatii 543

557160 Mosna, Romania Tel/Fax: +402 6986 2206 Mobile: +40 752 108 184

Email: willyschuster@yahoo.com

#### **ELKANA - BIOLOGICAL FARMING ASSOCIATION**

Ms Mariam JORJADZE

Director

Biological Farming Association Elkana

16 Gazakphuli Street 0177 Tbilisi, Georgia Tel: +995 32 536485 Fax: +995 32 536487

Email: director@elkana.org.ge

#### EUROPEAN AGRICULTURAL RESEARCH INITIATIVE (EURAGRI)

Ms Bettina HEIMANN \* Secretary General, Blichers Allé 20 8830 Tjele, Denmark

Tel: +458999 Fax: +45 89991699

E-mail: bettina.heimann@agri.dk

#### GEORGIAN RURAL WOMEN'S ASSOCIATION (GRWA)

Ms Nana PHIROSMANASHVILI

30 App 5 B 1 M.D. Vazisubani 0152 Tbilisi , Georgia Tel: +99532 777757 Fax: +99532 001153

Fax: +99532 001153 Mobile: +99599155725

E-mail: gruralwomens@yahoo.com

nanaphiro@gmail.com

#### HEIFER PROJECT INTERNATIONAL ARMENIAN BRANCH OFFICE

Ms Anahit GHAZANCHYAN Country Director Room 604, № 48, Mamikonyants street 0051 Yerevan, Armenia

Tel/Fax: +37410- 208301

Email: anahit@hpi.am, anahitgh@yahoo.com

Mr Vahe SARDARYAN

Project Manager

Room 604, № 48, Mamikonyants street

0051 Yerevan, Armenia Tel/Fax: +37410- 208301

Email: vahe@hpi.am, vahe\_sardaryan@yahoo.com

Viktor TERES \*

Country Director/President

14 Vasylkivska Str. Office no. 720

Kyiv 03040

Ukraine

Tel: +38044-490-7629 Fax: +38044-494-2609

E-mail: viktor.teres@heifer.org.ua

## INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE ON FOOD MICROBIOLOGY AND HYGIENE (ICFMH)

Ms Janet CORRY \*

Treasurer

University of Bristol

Langford

Bristol BS40 5DU

United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0) 117 928 9409 Fax: +44 (0) 117 928 9324 E-mail: janet.corry@bristol.ac.uk

#### INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR CONSERVATION OF NATURE (IUCN)

Hans FRIEDERICH \*

Regional Director

Pan-Europe Region

28 rue Mauverney

CH-1196 Gland, Switzerland

Tel. +41 22 999 0314

Fax +41 22 999 0020

Email: hans.friederich@iucn.org

#### KYRGYZ SHEEP BREEDERS' ASSOCIATION

Akylbek RAKAEV

ul. Profsouz 43

720080 Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan

Tel: +996-312-47-18-13

Email: ksba@elcat.kg

Email 2: ksba news@elcat.kg

#### PROTECTION OF CONSUMERS' RIGHTS

Abgar YEGHOYAN

Hanrapetutyan 76/1, Apr. 28 0001 Yerevan, Armenia Tel.: +374 10 543818

Fax: +374 10 543843 E-mail: <u>upcr@web.am</u>

Ms Sveta STEPANYAN Hanrapetutyan 76/1, Apr. 28 0001 Yerevan, Armenia

## PUBLIC FOUNDATION "CENTER OF TRAINING, CONSULTING AND INNOVATIONS IN AGRICULTURE"

Shaimbek KARASARTOV

Director Kyrgyzstan

Tel: +996 312 366117 Tel. mob. +996 777 986607 E-mail director@taic.kg

#### **REC CAUCASUS**

Georgi ARZUMANYAN \*
Executive Director
23 Chavchavadze Avenue, 2<sup>nd</sup> floor
0179 Tbilisi, Georgia

Tel: +995 32 253649/253648

E-mail: georgi.arzumanyan@rec-caucasus.org

#### **ROTARY INTERNATIONAL (RI)**

Antonio LICO Rotary International Representative to FAO/IFAD/WFP

4 Via Luigi Amadei 00152 Rome, Italy Tel: +39 3355901967

Fax: +39 0658320689 E-mail: <u>ilico@tiscali.it</u>

#### RURAL YOUTH EUROPE

Ms Gayane MARTIROSYAN Vice President of Armenian Rural Youth 32 street, Nor-Aresh Erebuny, Yerevan, Armenia

Tel: +37491 009 444

E-mail: mgayane2002@yahoo.com

#### **SOLIDARITE (ONG)**

Jacques BERTHELOT
14, Cheminement du Professeur

Bühl, 31100. France Tel: +33 56 14 12 906

Email: jacques.berthelot4@wanadoo.fr

#### TERRA NUOVA - INTERNATIONAL MORE AND BETTER

Ms Alessandra SGRO Liaison Officer Via Gran Bretagna 18 00196 Rome, Italy

Tel: 393406741705 Fax: +390680662557

Email: secretariat@moreandbetter.org

#### FAO STAFF FONCTIONNARIES DE LA FAO FUNCIONARIOS DE LA FAO ПЕРСОНАЛ ФАО

Jacques Diouf Director-General

Stefan Schlingloff Assistant Officer for the Director-General, Technical Officer, Land

and Water Division

Basharat Ali Director, Office of Support to Decentralisation

Boyd A. Haight Director, Office of Strategy Planning and Resources Management

Ms Eugenia Serova Senior Advisor, Investment Centre Division

Thomas Price NGOs/CSOs Liason Officer, Senior Programme Officer,

Office of Corporate Communications and External Relations

Ms Irina Utkina Information Officer, Public Information Specialist,

Office of Corporate Communications and External Relations

Ms Caterina Batello Senior Officer, Plant Production and Protection Division

Ms Annie Monard Locust Officer, Locust and other Migratory Pests Group,

Plant Production and Protection Division

#### CONFERENCE SECRETARIAT SECRETARIAT DE LA CONFERENCE SECRETARIA DE LA CONFERENCIA CEKPETAPUAT KOHФEPEHЦИИ

Ms Fernanda Guerrieri Assistant Director-General, Regional Representative for Europe and

Central Asia (ADG/RR),

Officer-in-Charge, Subregional Office for Central and Eastern Europe

(SEU)

Mustapha Sinaceur Subregional Coordinator for Central Asia (SRC, SEC)

Tomasz Lonc Conference Secretary, Regional Conference for Europe

Raimund Jehle Secretary, European Commission on Agriculture

David Sedik Senior Agricultural Policy Officer

Stjepan Tanic Agribusiness and Enterprise Development Officer

Michal Demes NGOs/CSOs Liaison Officer, Information and Knowledge

Management Officer

Andriy Rozstalnyy Animal Health and Production Officer,

Subregional Office for Central and Eastern Europe

Avetik Nersisyan Crop Production and Plant Protection Officer

Giovanni Munoz Land and Water Officer

Subregional Office for Central Asia

Goran Stavrik TCP Programme Officer

Peter Vandor Reports Officer, REU Consultant

Ms Valerie Guidi Conference Affairs Officer

Ms Danielle Corvest Secretary to the Director-General, REU Consultant

Ms Adrianna Gabrielli Documents Officer

Ms Marianna Kovacs Secretary to the ADG/RR

Ms Ildiko Pocza Communication Officer

Ms Beata Somogyi Secretary to SRC, SEC, and Officer-in-Charge, SEU

Ms Eszter Zaszlos Side events, financial matters, and Secretarial Clerk

#### **APPENDIX B**

#### **AGENDA**

#### I. INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

- 1. Opening Ceremony
- 2. Election of the Chairperson, Vice-Chairpersons and Appointment of Rapporteur
- 3. Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable

#### II. STATEMENTS

- 4. Statement by the Director-General
- 5. Statement by the Independent Chairman of the FAO Council

#### III. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND INFORMATION

- 6. Matters arising from the World Summit on Food Security and the 36<sup>th</sup> Session of the FAO Conference, notably implementation of the Immediate Plan of Action (IPA), including the Decentralized Offices Network
- 7. Establishment of One Global Shared Services Centre
- 8. The role of FAO Regional Conferences in the reformed Committee on World Food Security (CFS)
- 9. Report on FAO Activities in the Region 2008-09 and the implementation of the recommendations of the 26<sup>th</sup> Regional Conference for Europe
- 10. Implementation of the Programme of Work and Budget (PWB) 2010-2011 and areas of priority actions for the European Region for the following biennium 2012-2013
- 11. Summary Report of recommendations of FAO regional bodies
- Main conclusions and recommendations stemming from the debate in the 36th Session of the European Commmission on Agriculture
- 13. Declaration of the FAO-CSOs/NGOs Consultation for Europe
- 14. Ministerial Round Table Policy Response to Challenges in Agricultural and Rural Development in the Europe and Central Asia Region: Sharing experience and enhacing Cooperation in the Region

#### IV. OTHER MATTERS

- 12. Date, Place and Main Theme(s) of the Twenty-eighth FAO Regional Conference for Europe
- 13. Any other business
- 14. Adoption of the Report
- 15. Closure of the Conference

#### APPENDIX C

#### LIST OF DOCUMENTS

ERC/10/1/Rev.2 Provisional Annotated Agenda ERC/10/2 Matters arising from the World Summit on Food Security and the 36th Session of the FAO Conference, notably implementation of the Immediate Plan of Action (IPA), including the Decentralized Offices Network Towards a New Vision for the Decentralized Offices Network ERC/10/2 Add.1 ERC/10/3 The role of FAO Regional Conferences in the reformed Committee on World Food Security (CFS) ERC/10/4 Report on FAO Activities in the Region 2008-09 and the implementation of the recommendations of the 26th Regional Conference for Europe Implementation of the Programme of Work and Budget (PWB) 2010-2011 ERC/10/5 and areas of priority actions for the European Region for the following biennium 2012-2013 ERC/10/6 Establishment of One Global Shared Services Centre ERC/10/7 Policy response to challenges in agriculture and rural development in the Europe and Central Asia Region **INF SERIES** ERC/10/INF/1 Information Note ERC/10/INF/2 **Provisional Timetable** Rev.1 ERC/10/INF/3 Provisional List of Documents Rev. 1 ERC/10/INF/4 Statement by the Director-General Provisional List of Delegates ERC/10/INF/5 ERC/10/INF/6 Statement of Competence and Voting Rights by the European Union (EU) and its Member States

#### **LIM SERIES**

ERC/10/LIM/1 Main conclusions and recommendations stemming from the debates of the

36<sup>th</sup> session of the European Commission on Agriculture

#### APPENDIX D

#### STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL

Your Excellency, Mr Gerasim Alaverdyan, Minister for Agriculture of the Republic of Armenia

Your Excellency, Mr Arman Kirakossian, Deputy-Minister for Foreign Affairs

Mr Chairperson of the FAO Council,

Honourable Ministers,

Distinguished Delegates,

Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

#### Introduction

It is an honour and a great pleasure for me to be with you for this Twenty-seventh FAO Regional Conference for Europe which is being held in this historic city of Yerevan. Allow me first of all to express, in the name of the Organization, its personnel and also the delegations, our profound gratitude to the President of the Republic, His Excellency Serzh Sargsyan, to the Government and to the people of Armenia for their warm welcome and their hospitality.

This Regional Conference for Europe is the first to be held in a country that is among the principal beneficiaries of FAO's technical assistance. This is strong testimony of the significant progress that has been made in integrating the new Member Nations of this region into the activities and governance of our Organization.

#### State of food insecurity in the world

Mr Chairperson,

Ladies and Gentlemen,

At the World Food Summit of 1996, the Heads of State and Government pledged to reduce by half the number of people suffering from hunger by 2015. This global pledge was subsequently reaffirmed in other international agreements, notably at the Millennium Summit in 2000 and the World Food Summit: *five years later* in 2002. More recently, the World Summit of Heads of State and Government on Food Security, held last November in Rome, decided to reach the total eradication of hunger in the world.

Unfortunately, the latest data compiled by FAO show that the current situation is even more disturbing than it was in 1996. Hunger has risen in the last three years because of falling agricultural investment and soaring food prices. This has been exacerbated by the financial and economic crisis that has affected all regions of the planet. In 2009, the number of hungry people increased by 105 million over the previous year to reach one billion.

#### State of food insecurity in the region and role of agriculture

The region of Europe and Central Asia is a striking example, in the last ten years, of success in fighting poverty and food insecurity. Since 1998, some 50 million people in the region have succeeded in moving out of poverty. The reduction of food insecurity and poverty has been driven by a general increase in income, particularly for the working poor. In Central Asia, the number of people suffering from hunger fell by 38 percent from 9.3 million in 2000-2002 to 5.8 million in 2004-2006.

Agriculture has played a key role in reducing poverty and food insecurity in the countries of Europe and Central Asia. It is in the poorest of these countries, where the majority of the poor population live in rural areas and employment is essentially provided by agricultural activity, that the sector has recorded the highest rates of growth, fuelled almost exclusively by the small family farms.

The financial and economic crisis could adversely affect the progress and the significant improvements in living standards that have been achieved in the region during the last decade. In fact, according to estimates by the World Bank, the region of Europe and Central Asia is the region that has been hardest hit by the crisis. In addition, FAO studies have shown that the crisis has weakened agriculture, particularly in the countries of Central and East Europe. The countries of the region are facing major economic turmoil, including tighter export markets, lower remittance flows and reduced private financing.

#### Global and regional issues: investing in agriculture to eliminate hunger

History teaches us that there is no more powerful engine for stimulating growth and eradicating hunger and poverty than investment in agriculture. Whereas the number of hungry has steadily increased worldwide since the mid-1990s, the situation was completely different in the 1970s and 1980s. In those two decades, the number of undernourished people in the world decreased in spite of relatively high population growth. The investments that were made in the agricultural sector at the time, especially in rural infrastructure and scientific research, prompted a rapid increase in cereal yields.

In poor countries that are characterized by large rural populations, small farms and essentially rural poverty, agriculture can be a driving force for growth and hunger reduction, by providing food, employment and income.

Over the last fifty years we have been told that long-term agricultural growth is an indispensable condition for reducing food insecurity and poverty. Empirical studies indicate that growth in GDP that is originating in agriculture is at least twice as effective in reducing poverty as growth in GDP originating in other sectors of the economy.

To feed the world in 2050, with its 9.1 billion inhabitants of which 70 percent will be in urban areas, food production will need to increase by 70 percent globally and to double in the developing countries.

With limited natural resources, agricultural growth will need to come essentially from higher yields. Key factors in such growth will be access to water and modern inputs, good agricultural practices, land and soil management and targeted technologies. But we also need to tackle the constraints of agricultural commodity marketing and ensure that small farmers receive an adequate income. This will mean resolving the problem of insufficiency and inadequacy of information and communication systems, poor roads, storage and processing facilities, as well as food quality and safety control systems.

Moreover, agriculture will have to cope with climate change and its impact on productivity.

But sufficient financial resources are needed to improve infrastructure and modernize agricultural production resources in the poor countries. The proportion of official development assistance (ODA) that is allocated to agriculture, including forestry and fisheries, has fallen from 19 percent in 1980 to about 5 percent today. Agriculture in the developing countries needs 44 billion US dollars per year of ODA to finance modern inputs, rural infrastructures and technologies for the benefit of small farmers.

Investing more in the region's agricultural sector could help resolve hunger in other regions of the world. It is estimated that, with sufficient investment, nearly 10 million hectares of arable land could be brought back into cultivation to grow grains and oilseed crops in Kazakhstan, the Russian Federation and Ukraine.

#### **Agenda of the Regional Conference**

At this Twenty-seventh Regional Conference, you will be informed of FAO's activities in the region and will have an opportunity to discuss priorities and implementation of the Immediate Plan of Action for FAO Renewal, the establishment of the network of decentralized offices and the reform of the Committee on World Food Security.

A ministerial round table will be held on measures taken to deal with agricultural and rural development issues in the region.

#### **FAO** reform

FAO is currently undergoing the most profound process of reform within the United Nations system. It is renewing its working arrangements and the way it performs its mandate and delivers its services to member countries.

Implementation of the Immediate Plan of Action has been the primary objective of both the Member Nations and the Secretariat since it was adopted at the Special Session of the Conference in November 2008. The main elements of the Immediate Plan of Action are:

- adoption of a planning framework and a new results-based culture;
- decentralization and greater delegation of authority;
- organizational streamlining;
- improvement of human resource management;
- more effective governance.

Since January, the Regional Offices have been responsible for overseeing the programme and budget of technical officers in the region. They will gradually take over the management of technical work of country offices. In addition, staff of regional offices have been trained to assume responsibility for the Technical Cooperation Programme.

To facilitate the alignment of our administrative structure with the results-based framework, a comprehensive restructuring of the Headquarters was initiated in 2009 and is due for completion in 2012. A key element of this exercise has been the elimination of 40 Director-level positions with the aim of producing a flatter organizational structure and hierarchy.

The Independent Chairperson of the Council will explain in more detail the ongoing activities in this regard, especially at the level of Representatives of Member Nations.

#### **Reform of the Committee on World Food Security (CFS)**

Last November, the Thirty-sixth Session of the FAO Conference approved another significant reform, that of the Committee on World Food Security (CFS). The purpose of CFS reform is to improve the governance of world food security, using existing structures and programmes and creating effective partnerships. The renewed CFS has the following important characteristics:

- a global forum of discussion to foster a convergence of views on the causes and consequences of food insecurity and on the modalities of action required in this area;
- a mechanism for the global coordination of efforts to eliminate hunger in order to ensure long-term coherence and effectiveness of action;
- a solid scientific basis: the new CFS comprises a High-Level Panel of Experts that will help in taking appropriate decisions by providing objective and impartial research and analysis;
- an openness to all stakeholders: governments, regional and international institutions, economic and financial partners, farmers' organizations, the private sector, non-governmental organizations, foundations and civil society, all will be well represented.

But for the CFS to be a high-level intergovernmental process of decision-making and thus to acquire political legitimacy, governments need to be represented at ministerial level at its meetings. In addition to relevant technical ministries and departments, the participation of the ministers in charge of cooperation and development is also necessary for the discussion of key economic and financing issues.

At the country level, it is essential to put in place, under the authority of governments, partnerships building on Food Security Thematic Groups and National Alliances Against Hunger, which will need to be strengthened. These two mechanisms should provide support to national authorities which have the responsibility of ensuring a rational allocation and utilization of budgetary resources, official development assistance and private national and foreign direct investments.

Thus, the new Committee on World Food Security and its High-Level Panel of Experts, with the relevant mechanisms at the national level, will constitute the backbone of the Global Partnership for Agriculture and Food Security.

#### Conclusion

Honourable Chairperson,

Distinguished Ministers,

Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

Only five years separate us from 2015, the date by which world leaders pledged to reduce by half hunger and extreme poverty. However, if past trends continue, that target may not be reached because actions and resources are not commensurate with the set objectives. Nevertheless, I am convinced that together we can eliminate hunger from our

planet. But for that, we need to move forward from words to deeds, and above all to do it quickly.

During the last fifteen years, several countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America have succeeded in increasing agricultural production and significantly reducing the number of undernourished people living in their territory. So we know what it takes to defeat hunger.

If we are to feed the world, agricultural policies everywhere must be based on that perspective. We need to produce more in the developing and transition countries first, but also in those countries that still have unused production potential. And for this effort to benefit the poorest and the hungry, the rules of international agricultural trade will need to facilitate the goal of eradicating world hunger, as was unanimously recalled by the 193 Members at the Summit of Heads of State and Government last November at FAO.

Before closing, I should like to emphasize the key role of the European Union, within the Europe and Central Asia region, as partner of FAO for the technical and financial assistance that is provided to developing countries in the spheres of agriculture and rural development. Besides its contribution to the regular budget, the European Union is FAO's leading partner with, in 2009, a contribution of 365 million US dollars to the Organization's extra-budgetary resources. FAO wishes to further strengthen its excellent collaboration with the European Union and its institutions. This particularly effective collaboration is today heralded by many partners. I hope that in the future we can continue along the same lines and together win the fight against world hunger.

I wish you every success in your work and thank you for your kind attention.

#### **APPENDIX E**

## STATEMENT BY THE INDEPENDENT CHAIRPERSON OF THE COUNCIL

Mr Chairman of the Conference,

Distinguished Ministers and Heads of Delegation,

Mr Director-General,

Honourable Delegates and Observers,

Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

#### Introduction

May I be permitted, on behalf of the Council of FAO, to express my warmest thanks to the Government of the Republic of Armenia for having organized this Regional Conference and for having put in place all the necessary facilities. I should also like to thank the Armenian people for their wonderful welcome and generosity.

It is an honour and a pleasure to take part in this **Regional Conference**. Our session in Yerevan is the third of five Regional Conferences this year. Last week I was in Luanda for the Regional Conference for Africa and the week before in Panama for the Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean. I can assure you that these meetings are now of critical importance given the new role that they have been given by the member countries under the reform plan adopted in 2008 and for which the Basic Texts were amended in 2009.

The 2010 cycle of **Regional Conferences** is a landmark in the institutional life of the Organization as it constitutes the first biennium of implementation of the reform plan, the **Immediate Plan of Action**. Its implementation, financed from the Regular Budget, is under our collective responsibility and calls for sustained efforts on the part of the member countries and of the Secretariat in Rome and the decentralized offices.

As we approach the 139<sup>th</sup> Session of the Council, I wish to take this opportunity:

- (1) to brief you on the unfolding of my mandate as Independent Chairperson of the Council and to report to you on the accomplishment of the mission that you have entrusted to me;
- (2) to provide a progress report on the implementation of the reform plan, in my capacity as Chair of the "Committee on Reform" [CoC IEE], and on the functioning of the Open-Ended Working Group on Measures Designed to Increase the Efficiency of Governing Bodies (OEWG), which I also chair;
- (3) to envision developments for these different bodies.

#### First, the unfolding of my mandate

You elected me in November. I see my work as guided by **five principal axes**, which I should like to share with you:

1 – Collegiality: I have introduced a process of **informal coordination** of the Chairs of the Committees with limited membership and the Vice-Chairs of the "Committee on Reform", whose first meeting was on 9 March. I think the best option is to adopt a consensual and cross-cutting approach to the tasks that lie before us. Regular meetings of this group should

facilitate communication and the search for a common vision in order to address the time limits set for our agenda. Broader consultation to involve the Chairperson of the CFS (Committee on World Food Security) and the Technical Committees of the Council is programmed for 2 June.

- **2 Subsidiarity:** It is essential that the governing bodies maximize the coordination of their actions to avoid duplication and repetition. As we proceed from one level to the next, value needs to be added at each level. I shall make sure that what is dealt with at one level is not dealt with again at a higher level. In this connection, **intersessional work** is essential and reflects the spirit of reform. Positive initiatives have been taken in this sense. They go in the right direction in that they permit an in-depth preparation of the formal sessions.
- **3 Appropriation:** Dialogue within and with the **Regional Groups** is essential and must draw upon regular meetings so that each group can express its concerns and proposals. I therefore invited the Chairs of the Regional Groups to working meetings on 15 March, 22 March, 21 April and 10 May to deal in particular with the topic of **field visits and preparation for the Council**. I should like to take this opportunity to thank the Chair of the European Regional Group, Belarus, and the Presidency of the European Union, Spain, for their active collaboration.
- **4 Independence:** Each of you knows that it is important to maintain this criterion, both in relation to the Members and to the Secretariat and the Office of the Director-General, with whom changes are underway in a constructive atmosphere. Rest assured that I view the observance of this independence as crucial to the success of my mission. I strive each day to maintain it, especially in view of important looming deadlines, including the election of the Director-General in 2011 at the Thirty-seventh Session of the Conference.
- **5 Partnership:** Partnership is essential for our mission and we need to consider developing it in all its forms: other United Nations agencies, States, civil society, non-governmental organizations and private enterprise.

#### Second, what is the state of progress of reform?

Reform is underway. The time is ripe for collective action and we need to help maintain the momentum of the reform process, which is still fragile. Together we must counter all forms of inertia, notably by making best possible use of the Organization's human resources, which we all know are top calibre. **Internal communication** is essential, as it is the staff who see to the everyday implementation of reform. **External communication** is also essential and each country has a part to play in this.

That is how we can expect concrete results, both in Rome and in your region. The new methods of work and preparation of the Committees with limited membership will lead to even more precise recommendations for the upcoming session of the Council. And as you know, the Council has been given added responsibilities in planning, establishing priorities, control, oversight and monitoring the implementation of governance decisions.

The schedule of meetings of the "Committee on Reform" has been revised so that two can be held before the summer. Following our first meeting of 8 April, I wish to take stock with you on four core processes of our road map:

- (1) The Open-Ended Working Group on the efficiency of the governing bodies: This was formally established on 9 April and its tentative work schedule adopted. Intersessional work will clearly be needed given the sensitivity of the topic of representation on the Council.
- (2) The process of preparation of the informal meeting on the integration of extra-budgetary funding: On 14 April, the joint session of the Finance and Programme Committees underlined the need to define the preparatory conditions for this meeting, scheduled under the Immediate Plan of Action (IPA). We should address this issue and take decisions at our next meetings on the monitoring of reform.

(3) – Preparation for election of the Director-General: The address of candidates to the Council and Conference was on the agenda of the Committee on Constitutional and Legal Matters that met last week in Rome. Proposals were put forward by the Secretariat, mainly on the basis of a comparative analysis of rules and practices in effect in other United Nations agencies. Recommendations to be transmitted to the Council will be discussed this month. Elsewhere, a vacancy announcement for the position of Director-General has been posted on the FAO website.

- (4) Status of the Regional Conferences: Reform of governance introduced significant change at regional level, with the <u>Regional Conferences</u> given full governing body status. This is a remarkable step for the consolidation of governance at regional level. The Regional Conferences will now be hierarchically linked to the Conference and the Council, to whom they will also be required to report:
- in the first case, on aspects relating to policy and regulation;
- in the second case, on matters relating to programme and budget.

In this regard, the Programme Committee asked me to draw your attention to the role of the Regional Conferences in defining **regional priorities** and in communicating those priorities to the Council. I highlight this point today, knowing full well that you will give it all the attention it deserves.

Moreover, as the CFS reports to the Council on programme and budgetary matters, I should like to comment on the work of the Bureau of this Committee, which I consider to be extremely positive. The significant advances that have emerged can only benefit the relationship between the CFS and the Council. This liaison will also facilitate the establishment of the Global Partnership for Agriculture, Food Security and Nutrition, involving the specialized agencies in Rome - FAO, IFAD, WFP and Bioversity - as well as civil society. This Conference will be examining this issue in detail in the presence of the Chair of the CFS Bureau.

#### What is the short-term outlook?

The entry into effect of the new scheduling for the Conference, henceforth to be held in June, will shorten this current biennium by some six months. The agenda is therefore heavy and we will have to use the time available to best effect.

In this regard, work conducted in informal groups is a good approach, on condition that is transparent, open and compatible with the formal sessions of the governing bodies, whose decisions it must not pre-empt. This approach provides for early and careful preparation of important events, such as the election of the Director-General or consideration of extra-budgetary funding in the preparation of the Programme of Work and Budget 2012-2013. But it must remain coordinated and aligned with the work of the "Committee on Reform", the Council and other formal or informal bodies.

The next meetings of the "Committee on Reform" will be dealing with **decentralized offices and staff rotation policy**. These are important issues for **decentralization**, whose discussion could be enlightened by the views and recommendations of the Regional Conferences taking place in the meantime. I will facilitate consideration of the inputs of the Regional Conferences in the decision-making processes, particularly during the deliberations of the Council.

The Committees have examined issues of direct relevance to **decentralization**, such as progress in implementing the Technical Cooperation Programme. The Programme Committee specifically recommended that, with support from the Secretariat, I take measures for the **Regional Conferences** to be in a position to formulate precise recommendations to the Council on the priority areas of regions. I will implement this recommendation, particularly in the formulation of the next Programme of Work and Budget.

You will also know that my mandate calls for continued contact with institutions dealing with subjects falling within FAO's remit, so that the Council is kept abreast of corresponding developments. I shall ensure that the Council is kept informed of discussions of interest to FAO taking place in other bodies, and that such dialogue is pursued with other governing bodies, notably those of the institutions dealing with food and agriculture that are based in Rome. In this connection, a particular point of information is included in the agenda of the next session of the Council that will take place next week in Rome. Several important meetings will be taking place in the coming months, including the 33<sup>rd</sup> Session of the Codex Alimentarius Commission, the Session of the Economic and Social Council of the United Nations and the Summit on the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). I envisage consultations with you on these events so that we can share the information we have gathered. If I am given the chance, I aim to attend some of these events and thus to meet other international agencies. I shall also be pursuing my meetings with staff representatives and will step up my encounters with representatives of civil society, particularly NGOs, and of course WFP and the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD).

Finally, I have planned several missions to the field to coincide with the Regional Conferences, so that I can meet the beneficiaries of FAO's work and assess the impact of reform. That is why I am here this week in Armenia.

#### **CONCLUSION**

To conclude, I wish to assure you of my complete availability for the mission you have entrusted to me, both in Rome and in the field. I wish to hear your concerns which I am ready to pass on to all member countries, whenever necessary.

We need to remain focused on the implementation of reform, homing in on the essentials without reopening settled issues. The road is long and strewn with obstacles. The process is still fragile. We must remain united and committed to make FAO more effective and more responsive at its different levels, and we must strengthen the Members' accountability if we are to achieve our primary goal which is to fight better against hunger.

At a time when the agricultural sector and markets remain characterized, in Europe as elsewhere, by instability and uncertainty, it is important to equip producers with appropriate tools to manage risk, while strengthening social mechanisms to protect the vulnerable. Such measures are particularly necessary in the European region, where socio-economic as well as agricultural and rural institutions and policies have recently undergone profound change in many countries. This Conference is therefore called upon to examine not only the implementation of the Programme of Work and Budget for 2010-11 but also to formulate recommendations on priority action areas for Europe in the 2012-13 biennium. In this regard, I am interested to note that special focus is placed on a series of long-term regional priorities, including:

- the strengthening of early warning and rapid intervention capacity;
- the development of food production through measures that target agricultural inputs, credit, extension and education;
- the improved functioning and integration of markets;
- an increase in investment in agriculture, food processing, post-harvest technologies, rural infrastructure and social mechanisms to protect the more vulnerable population groups.

Finally, I should like to assure you that reform is not an end in itself, but rather the means to ensure greater efficiency and effectiveness of FAO at all levels. The Secretariat and Management have already introduced actions to enable culture change. The regions, including yours, are now better structured to respond to such change.

The Governing Bodies, the Council, the Committees and indeed, I myself, have changed culture to bring each country delegation more closely into the everyday workings of FAO. This is essential if we are to perform our duties everywhere in the field, in all countries, to the full.

Equally important is the need to promote FAO influence and recognition among international bodies.

Along the lines of what has been done with the CFS (Committee on World Food Security), we have other platforms that need stronger cohesion (Water, Land, Climate...). We need to be proactive players. Hence the importance of FAO reform. And taking us forward is our haste to eradicate world hunger, once and for all.

I wish you every success in your work and thank you for your kind attention.

#### **APPENDIX F**

#### MAIN CONCLUSIONS AND LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS STEMMING FROM THE DEBATE IN THE 36TH SESSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION ON AGRICULTURE (ECA) ON ITEMS 4 – 9

### Item 4: Mapping and policy response to climate change impacts on agriculture and rural areas: ECA 36/10/2

- 1. The Commission expressed its appreciation and support for the work of the secretariat on inventory of climate change impacts on agriculture and rural areas and capacity building for Ministries of Agriculture related to adaptation and mitigation of climate change.
- 2. A number of countries presented assessments of negative impacts of climate change on crop production, deterioration and loss of soils and water resources, soil salinization and loss of forest cover and secondly, experience in programmes to counteract these, including attracting private investment in development of sustainable irrigation systems and increasing productivity through new drought resistant varieties. The Commission supported, for the attention of FAO, the recommendations included in paragraphs 25 to 32 of the document ECA 36/10/2. In addition it added:
  - the full involvement of Ministries of Agriculture in work on adaptation and mitigation and on National Communications to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and work on Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Strategies;
  - to incorporate climate change related policies into rural development and agriculture policies as well as national programmes for sustainable management of land and water resources, farm level environment protection programmes and multifunctional use of land and improved management of rangelands;
  - dissemination of policies on good agriculture practices for adaptation to climate change impacts and their mitigation, based on solid scientific foundations, for sustainable management of land and water and protection of biodiversity.

## Item 5: Challenges of water scarcity in the European and Central Asia region and recommendation for adaptation: ECA 36/10/3

- 3. The Commission welcomed this agenda item as water scarcity was a problem that currently many countries in the region face and it was expected to become more severe in relation to climate change. Many countries are already facing serious water management problems that require immediate actions.
- 4. The Commission acknowledged the strategic approach developed by FAO and supported the technical assistance which has been provided by FAO for the member countries in the region.
- 5. A number of countries presented assessments of the water scarcity and government responses at national and transboundary levels. It was emphasized that the situation was most critical in the Caucasus and the Central Asian region.
- 6. The Commission proposed the following recommendations for the attention of the governments:
  - develop governance structures taking into account the experiences of some Mediterranean countries as well as initiatives for the rivers Maas, Schelde and Rhine;

 develop regulatory frameworks through multilateral agreements for water management based on river basins and as an integrated approach to preserve the ecosystems;

- promote dry land agricultural practices to improve water productivity and address the problems related to large-scale salinization of irrigated areas;
- policy options and related strategies dealing with water scarcity should be based on the set of solid principles as suggested by the secretariat:
  - base strategies on a clear understanding of the causes of water scarcity;
  - ensure cost-effectiveness with a full assessment of externalities;
  - improve water governance and institutional capacity;
  - adapt response to local conditions;
  - ensure policy alignment between water, agriculture and food security;
  - anticipate change through robust decision-making and adaptive management.
- 7. The Commission supported for the attention of FAO the recommendations included in paragraphs 47 to 56 of the document **ECA 36/10/3**.
- 8. The Commission welcomed the establishment of the FAO Water Platform as endorsed by the FAO Programme Committee. It looks forward to the development of an FAO Water Strategy taking into consideration the recommendations of the evaluation of FAO's role in work related to water. Special attention should be given to the needs of the different regions to improve the related activities of the Organization through both better internal coordination and improved cooperation with partners, including International Financing Institutions (IFIs).

## Item 6: Improvement of rural livelihoods in Central and Eastern Europe and the CIS through sustainable improvements in livestock production: ECA 36/10/4

- 9. The Commission congratulated the secretariat for the excellent paper prepared on this item and the clear and concise format of the recommendations in Annex 1 of ECA 36/10/4.
- 10. The Commission emphasized the importance of the document's recommendation that sustainable progress in livestock sector development depends largely on integrated approaches, which take into consideration many relevant activities of the whole value chain. In a number of countries the livestock sector continues to be the main income source of a considerable proportion of rural population. The aspects and correlations of animal and human health were also highlighted as was the importance of cooperation in the prevention of an outbreak of zoonosis.
- 11. One observer stated that their livestock sector continues to be based on large-scale interventions and an unchanged government support system, thus addressing better production management, animal health and food safety issues.
- 12. The Commission's main recommendation for the attention of the governments was that:
  - policy measures and instruments in the various country groups of the region follow an approach which integrates improvement of feed and fodder levels, advice and other activities to improve breeding and the husbandry and animal health situation as well as access to inputs including land, credit, market information, support services and markets and all other important conditions to achieve sustainable development of livestock farms;
  - use be made of the analysis of strengths, weaknesses, threats and opportunities related to the geopolitical differences and socio-economic specificities among countries to set suitable policy options and instruments that best contribute to the sustainable development of the livestock sector.

13. The technical recommendations for the attention of FAO in paragraphs 58 to 60 of ECA 36/10/4 were adopted.

## Item 7: Income diversification for sustainable development of European and Central Asian Rural Areas – Role of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO): ECA 36/10/5

- 14. The Commission congratulated the secretariat for the preparation of a comprehensive background document and welcomed this agenda item as it demonstrated the importance of agriculture and related diverse economic activities for the economic development of rural areas and captures the main obstacles and also the opportunities.
- 15. The Commission recognized the role that FAO plays in assisting countries implementing effective agricultural policies that allow farmers to seize the opportunities of national, regional and global markets, while specifically helping small-scale farms not to lag behind. In this regard, cooperatives and farmer associations should be promoted.
- 16. Some Members of the Commission expressed their view that the renewed Common Agricultural Policy and the European Union Rural Development Policy were good examples of policies oriented towards a sustainable and competitive agriculture, while setting a whole range of measures to improve rural livelihoods and income diversification.
- 17. A number of countries presented their ongoing programmes in this field including territorial development, landscape preservation, rural infrastructure development, income diversification through handicrafts, agritourism, promotion of local markets and transboundary trade. It was also pointed out that a number of conditions should be met to create an enabling environment for diversification starting from land use rights to access of resources and services and also that income diversification strategies should be tailored to each specific country.
- 18. The Commission stressed that exchange of experiences and related networking among member countries were of utmost importance. It was emphasized that learning best practices from other countries and sharing their experiences would be welcomed.
- 19. The Regional Rural Development Standing Working Group of South Eastern Europe (SWG) expressed its gratitude to FAO and other partners of cooperation for the support of their activities, invited other countries from the subregion to join and offered to share their experiences with the Central Asian countries. It emphasized that the case of the SWG could be seen as a worthwhile initiative to be followed also in other subregions.
- 20. The Commission recognized the excellent assistance FAO and especially the Regional Office for Europe and Central Asia and its associated subregional offices provide for member countries in the region supporting a number of income diversification programmes and projects in the region and expects that in the decentralization process this assistance would be further enhanced in the future.
- 21. The Commission welcomed the involvement of FAO in activities supporting income diversification in the region, such as the Agricultural Policy Forum for Southeastern Europe and the collaboration in a wide range of donor funded projects on agriculture and rural development for countries in Europe and Central Asia. Collaboration with other partners in this area was encouraged. Efforts should be made to continue with FAO's involvement in ongoing activities of partners in the region.
- 22. The Commission supported, for the attention of FAO, the recommendations included in paragraphs 47 to 60 of the document ECA 36/10/5. In addition it added that FAO could further strengthen its assistance to help countries diversify the income of rural areas by:

- promoting quality linked to geographical origin and geographical indications;
- human capital and skills development through vocational training and outreach activities, mainly aimed at small industries and producers;
- improving advisory services to farmers and rural enterprises and sharing experiences on land consolidation.

## Item 8: Implementation of the Programme of Work and Budget (PWB) 2010-2011 and areas of priority actions for the European region for the following biennium 2012-2013: ERC/10/5

- 23. The Commission welcomed the opportunity to review "Implementation of the PWB 2010-11 and proposed areas of priority actions for the European region for the biennium 2012-13", in line with the new role of the Regional Conference as a Governing Body of FAO.
- 24. The Commission found that the background document did not provide the basis for a thorough discussion on areas of priority action in the region for the current and future biennia. It recognized that the process of prioritization was a work in progress, involving Members and the secretariat, and improvements were to be expected in future documentation. For the current biennium, elaboration of regional areas of action should be linked to indicators in the results frameworks, identification of opportunities for use of the Technical Cooperation Programme (TCP) and leverage of voluntary contributions.
- 25. The Commission agreed that continuation of the present areas of priority action for the 2012-13 biennium was a sensible approach linked to the four-year Medium-Term Plan (MTP), with adjustments to take account of emerging issues, linkages to the reformed Committee on World Food Security (CFS), and partnerships. Members expressed their appreciation of the informal consultation held in Budapest in March 2010, which resulted in the identification of possible areas of priority action at subregional level, including: support to smallholders in improving land tenure systems, market access, food safety, promotion of food quality, support to genetic resources and evaluation of food security. It was regretted that the outcome of that meeting could not be reflected in the background document due to the time constraints despite that the member countries attending the Budapest meeting considered the priorities identified there as important priority areas for FAO interventions in the region.
- 26. To address the food and agriculture challenges in the region, and taking account of FAO's Strategic Framework and its core functions, the Commission emphasized that priority should be given to regional activities involving advocacy, policy support, capacity building, knowledge management and neutral fora for discussion in the following areas of action:
  - provision of basic global data and statistics;
  - assistance to define national economic, social, food and nutrition policies, with a focus on capacity building for least developed countries to meet global expectations and benefit from market opportunities;
  - normative role at global level, as well as capacity building to reinforce technical and institutional capacities, especially for least developed countries;
  - implementation of food safety, sanitary and phytosanitary standards including global conventions;
  - animal and plant transboundary diseases;
  - emergencies and rehabilitation;
  - interface between climate change and agriculture;
  - conservation and management of plant and animal genetic resources;
  - sustainable management of forests.
- 27. The Commission also stressed that the development of the European Union seemed to be important for all member countries of the region and thus the experience from European Union countries should be further transmitted to other member countries of the region.

28. Members appreciated the informal discussion inspired by the Chair following the formal statements, which allowed a more open dialogue among the member countries and with the secretariat, while recognizing that the results of informal consultations need to be formally endorsed.

- 29. The Commission recommended that:
  - the priorities outlined in paragraph 26 should be taken into consideration in the preparation of the Programme of Work and Budget 2012-13;
  - the report of the Informal Consultation in Budapest in March 2010 should be included in the priority identification process for the Programme of Work and Budget 2012-13 (Annex to the ERC Report);
  - informal dialogue among Members and with the secretariat should be encouraged during preparation of the Programme of Work and Budget;.
  - new approaches and formats be considered for the work of the ECA during and between sessions, involving formal and informal mechanisms, as they are needed to bring national and subregional priorities to bear on formulation of regional areas of priority actions.
- 30. Therefore, the Commission proposed [for consideration by the ERC] that:
  - the Executive Committee of the Commission should liaise with the Chair of the ERC and the Assistant Director-General/Regional Representative for Europe and Central Asia during the intersessional period, including on regional areas for priority action for the next biennium;
  - the informal meetings of Members in the region should continue to increase dialogue
    on the preparation of areas of priority action for the next Programme of Work and
    Budget.

## Item 9: Mainstreaming gender in rural development through ECA Working Party on Women and the Family in Rural Development (WPW) Activities: ECA 36/10/6

- 31. Following a summary presentation from the FAO Gender Focal Point in the region the Commission underlined the (i) importance of incorporating gender into farm support and rural development policies, programmes and projects; (ii) assistance to female rural entrepreneurs in developing products and services to market in order to diversify sources of rural populations' incomes; and (iii) improved access for women to land and other production inputs. The issue of manifold impacts of migrations on rural society, both negative in terms of labour loss but also positive through investment of remittances was put as a new emerging issue area of priority. Furthermore, the growing role of women in agriculture was seen as a road to innovativeness and new ideas.
- 32. The Commission noted that the Working Party on Women and the Family in Rural Development (WPW) could not hold its 15<sup>th</sup> session back to back with the present 27<sup>th</sup> session of the Regional Conference for Europe in Yerevan and considered that the issue of mainstreaming gender in rural development should be included as a standing item in future ECA meetings.
- 33. The Commission requested FAO to take a leading role in underscoring the importance of women for agriculture, food security and nutrition. Capacity building in rural areas, fostering of gender policies for governments and policy-makers, and dissemination of sex-disaggregated data are key factors.
- 34. The Commission stressed that reform-led improvement of gender analysis at FAO must continue and FAO should also draw on the lessons learned by the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) in this area.

35. The Commission took note of the urge of the European Union to governments to carry out necessary reforms to overcome institutional, social, legal and political barriers to gender quality and to specifically ensure that both women and men have equal rights and access to all resources. It is expected that FAO and other agencies and programmes of the United Nations provide guidance on this.

- 36. The Commission took note of the European Union to urge governments to promote a number of significant non-agricultural policies targeted to women for the elimination of rural poverty.
- 37. The Commission welcomed the Gender and Land Rights Database developed by FAO and its further update and extension.
- 38. The Commission also took note of the proposal to invite the ECA WPW to improve its working methods and to include in its agenda all issues of special relevance to foster policy advice and the integration of women in rural development, such as social issues relating to non-agrarian economies, migratory patterns, demographic trends, land as collateral for non-agriculture investment and the influence of these factors on women's involvement in rural development and agriculture. It also urged the countries in the region to actively participate in future sessions and activities for the ECA WPW.
- 39. The Commission took note of the request of the Chair of the WPW to support its initiative to develop close cooperation with other statutory bodies of FAO, such as the CFS among others, and ensure that funding is provided also on a Regular Programme basis for the implementation of Strategic Objective "K" on Gender.
- 40. The Commission endorsed the work programme as outlined in paragraph 23 of the document ECA 36/10/6 and proposed to include this item in the future as a standing item of the agenda of the ECA sessions.
- 41. The Commission recommended that FAO support the Central Asia countries through targeted policy and project sharing experience activities, including gender aspects of land reform and follow-up and, at the request of the WPW Chair, support from extrabudgetary resources be mobilized for the WPW activities.

#### APPENDIX G

#### STATEMENT BY THE REPRESENTATIVE OF THE FAO/CSOs-NGOs CONSULTATION FOR EUROPE ON TOPICS RELATED TO THE AGENDA OF THE REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR EUROPE

#### Introduction

On 10 and 11 May 2010, 44 CSOs and NGOs, representing national organizations from 10 countries and 9 international organizations of the Europe and Central Asia Region, gathered in Yerevan prior to the FAO Regional Conference. They discussed issues on the agenda of the 27<sup>th</sup> FAO Regional Conference for Europe and the relationships between FAO and Civil Society. The Consultation was chaired by Abgar Yeghoyan, President of the Armenian NGO "Protection of Consumers' Rights". The Consultation came to a consensus on the following points.

#### Analysis of the crisis in the region and the impact on food security

Regarding the food price crisis:

- many countries in the Caucasus and CIS Region (out of the EU) were particularly affected given their strong dependency on importation of food goods;
- many farmers in the Caucasus and CIS Region were affected by the changes that occurred at the end of their membership of the USSR and by the reforms that followed;
- the national agricultural producers in all parts of the region did not all benefit from temporarily high agriculture prices as they did not have enough investment capacity nor access to inputs and credits;
- in the EU countries, despite the existence of direct payments, farmers were also affected by the crisis particularly in certain sectors such as the dairy sector as the prices returned to a very low level falling below European production costs following the crisis; it was also as a result of the CAP reform measures which had substantially reduced tools/instruments for markets regulation/management in all parts of the Region. Small producers were particularly affected given that low prices did not allow them to invest;
- in the new European Union Member States where many small producers remain, the application of new sanitary, traceability, environmental and animal welfare standards meant that farmers were no longer able to sell their products on their national and in the EU market:
- consumers were also affected by the crisis (more dramatically in the Caucasus and CIS Region) given the fact that the prices to consumers remained high, even when the producers' prices dropped.

Regarding the financial and economic crisis:

• the financial and economic crisis had a strong impact on poverty and food security in the Caucasus and CIS Region, given the impact on incomes.

Regarding the climate change crisis:

 the governments of the Caucasus and CIS Region showed little interest in the impact of climate change that has a severe impact, especially on water availability and scarcity.

#### FAO's role in the Region

Food and agriculture are central to society in the Region. Environmental, socio-economic and cultural aspects depend on food and agriculture policies. Besides the pre-eminent role of the EU CAP, which is being constantly reviewed, it is of utmost importance to establish a Regional policy based on food sovereignty<sup>4</sup> and improving self-sufficency.

FAO is a unique forum for cooperation in the Region and is the place where such a regional policy can be formulated. FAO must take into consideration the different analyses regarding food and agriculture coming from all Member States and CSOs in order to design appropriate agricultural and trade policies.

Therefore we ask for a pre-eminent role of FAO to boost cooperation and exchange in this Region and we look to FAO as a fundamental instrument to foster partnerships between CSOs and Member States, especially in the Newly Independent States (NIS) in the Region.

#### **CSO** expectations of FAO

FAO should ensure that all the proposed programmes include the full participation of CSOs in a bottom-up approach.

FAO should boost partnership between CSOs in the Region on the following themes:

- support of sustainable production
  - agroecology programmes with involvement of producers
  - family farm and multifuctional activities
  - new models of research based on the involvement of peasants/pastoralists with local knowledge (e.g. participatory breeding), linking research to the farmers and vice versa
  - crucial importance of traditional livestock keeping in the Region
- making the countryside attractive for future generations
  - promotion of livelihood opportunities for rural youth
  - development of rural infrastructure, including services with obligatory involvement of the communities and farmers in decision-making to ensure farmers' ownership and access to the resources
  - development of alternative types of rural employment to support rural inhabitants
- better functioning of markets
  - promotion of price monitoring to combat food monopolies
  - models of distribution to ensure appropriate and just food chains
  - urge governments to include independent CSOs in respective decision-making processes
  - promotion of the creation of farmers' bottom-up cooperatives
  - participation in improving the legal environment
  - remunerative prices for farmers
  - ensure that the conditions of accession to the WTO and the EU will not adversely affect small farmers in the long run
  - supply management (production volumes to be set by the countries)
  - securing access to productive land for small farmers
  - increase FAO's capacity to enable its assistance to the Region
  - improving microfinance, access of farmers to financial resources
- other issues
  - limitation of production and distribution of GMOs in the Region after assessment of their long-term impact and in the light of the precautionary principle
  - how to ensure biosafety in the Region
  - rules and conditions that ensure that the production of agrofuels does not compete with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For definition, see the 2007 Nyeleny Declaration on the website: <a href="http://www.nyeleni.org/?lang=en&lang\_fixe=ok">http://www.nyeleni.org/?lang=en&lang\_fixe=ok</a>

land and other resources for food production.

### Additional recommendations for Newly Independent States (NIS) for collaboration with CSOs

- establishment of a legal framework for agriculture cooperatives
- establishment of an agriculture insurance system
- public financial and other support for smallholder farmers
- establishment of an appropriate food safety system and valid legal environment for small-scale farmers.

#### **Committee on World Food Security (CFS) Reform**

In this context, we urge the Member States to push forward the CFS reform process to achieve the so-called phase 2, namely, that the CFS should be the venue for making decisions on global agricultural policies and the allocation of respective funds, which would also ensure accountability and transparency.

The newly reformed CFS also gives a prominent role to the Region and we support a mechanism for governance at regional level with the full involvement of CSOs. In this context, we reaffirm the need for the autonomous organization of CSOs in order to face the challenges to food and agriculture. To ensure CSOs' participation funds must be assured.

#### Main expectations of Civil Society of the Member States

Access to land: we support the process to achieve Voluntary guidelines on the access to land and natural resources. The process of the International Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development (ICARRD) follow-up is also crucial for the Region. We oppose the unlimited privatization of land and land grabbing that deprive smallholder farmers of fair access to resources.

<u>Climate change</u>: we need to consider developing activities to permit adaptation, but also mitigation activities giving special attention to agroecology, e.g. organic and traditional sustainable ways of farming in the Region.

<u>Markets</u>: Improve domestic (local/national/regional) markets for better access of smallholder farmers and satisfaction of consumers.

Ensure fair exchange in the Region by avoiding the negative impact of trade practices of countries that have stronger capacities to support their agriculture.

#### **Next Steps**

The CSOs agreed to build on existing civil society mechanisms in the Region through consultations within the various constituencies. In order to ensure continuity and regular dialogue with FAO and the Member States, there will be a facilitating committee with focal points from the different constituencies and subregions in Europe. The committee will work on a voluntary basis with the FAO Regional Office and Headquarters on the major issues identified above notably within the context of the CFS Reform and changes in global governance of food and agriculture.

It was proposed that at the next FAO Regional Conference for Europe in 2012 that a delegation of civil society attend as participants following the precedents and procedures established within the reformed CFS.

The committee will consult virtually in the immediate future and on a face-to-face basis as possible and appropriate. It will approach the FAO Secretariat for mobilization of resources and development of a joint programme of work.

#### **APPENDIX H**

## REPORT OF THE PREPARATORY INFORMAL CONSULTATION HELD IN BUDAPEST

#### A Opening

- 1. The meeting was opened by the Assistant Director-General, Regional Representative for Europe and Central Asia. She welcomed the participants and highlighted the unique opportunity for an informal exchange of views among the member countries regarding priority areas for the future work of FAO in the European and Central Asia Region, and the preparations for the forthcoming Regional Conference for Europe in Yerevan.
- 2. On behalf of the Government of Hungary, the Director General of the Ministry of Agriculture welcomed the participants to the meeting and expressed his pleasure at hosting and supporting this event.
- 3. The representatives from the member countries congratulated the Secretariat for the organization of the event and particularly Hungary for providing the relevant facilities and for its hospitality. It was highlighted that in light of the implementation of the FAO Reform such a meeting was important in order to prepare for the 27<sup>th</sup> Regional Conference for Europe in Yerevan and to have clear recommendations to be subsequently forwarded by the Regional Conference through the Programme and Finance Committees to the FAO Council.

#### **B** Introduction and Background

- 4. The introduction to the meeting, provided by the FAO Regional Office for Europe and Central Asia (REU), indicated to the participants that the 22<sup>nd</sup> Regional Conference for Europe, held in Porto, Portugal, in 2000, had identified the long-term regional priorities through the formal adoption of the document "Strategic Framework 2000-2015". All consecutive regional conferences reconfirmed these regional priorities and highlighted those issues, where they wished that FAO would concentrate its efforts in a given biennium.
- 5. The Immediate Plan of Action for FAO's Renewal (IPA) approved by the 35th (Special) Session of the FAO Conference in November 2008 laid the foundations for an enhanced results-based approach to programme planning, implementation and reporting in the Organization. It provided the basis for preparing, during 2009, the Strategic Framework 2010-19, the Medium-Term Plan 2010-13 and the Programme of Work and Budget 2010-11, which were endorsed by the 36th Session of the FAO Conference in November 2009.
- 6. The Conference also adopted a revitalized and more inclusive inter-governmental process of review of priorities and programme and budget proposals, whereby from 2010 the Regional Conferences would *inter alia* report to the Council, through the Programme and Finance Committees, on these matters, and in doing so would:

advise on, and identify, the special problems of their respective regions and priority
areas of work which should be taken into account in the preparation of the planning,
programme and budget documents of the Organization and suggest adjustments to
these documents:

- review and advise on the performance of the Organization in the region in contributing to the achievement of results against relevant performance indicators, including any pertinent evaluations.
- 7. Therefore, this informal consultation as well as the discussion on priorities during the forthcoming sessions of the European Commission on Agriculture (ECA) and the Regional Conference for Europe in May 2010 in Yerevan, will consider new modalities regarding the definition of priorities as well as emphasize the new decisive role of the Regional Conference in providing guidance to the secretariat towards a results-based strategic prioritization and work programme setting.
- 8. The consultation began with a presentation by the Secretariat of the priority areas for the Europe and Central Asia Region and the Subregional offices for Central and Eastern Europe and for Central Asia for the 2010-2011 and 2012-13 biennia and on the new planning process, programme approaches and project tools under the FAO Reform. A detailed discussion of these priority areas in three working groups followed this opening session:

Working Group 1: Central and Eastern Europe (Report in Annex 1)

Working Group 2: South-Eastern Europe (Report in Annex 2)

Working Group 3: Central Asia (Report in Annex 3)

- 9. The working groups allowed a review of priority areas by country groups. The working groups were attended by member countries from the different areas of the European and Central Asia Region.
- 10. The discussion confirmed that the European and Central Asia Region was highly differentiated by development and income levels, policy agenda and assistance requirements. A number of Central European countries have joined the European Union (EU) and, thus, the emphasis of FAO's field technical assistance has shifted further south and further east:
  - The main policy issues for the countries of South-eastern Europe were related to EU accession. Assistance in this region was oriented toward enhancement of food value chains, introduction of the "acquis communautaire", sustainable management of natural resources and ensuring food security.
  - The CIS countries further to the East were more in the process of developing agriculture and rural development policies supportive of market agriculture and institutions for sector governance that support the development of family farms and the private sector. These countries require assistance in a broad range of policy, capacity and institutional-building issues, from natural resource management to food safety to value chain developments and others.
  - The countries of Central Asia require enhanced attention to issues related to rural poverty and food security as well as to natural resource management.

11. The participants also highlighted that the global economic and financial crisis, climate change and volatile food prices had serious impacts on economic development in many countries in the European and Central Asian region.

- 12. It was stressed that FAO priorities in the region should include particularly capacity-building related to integrated actions addressing policy, institutions and people, with a special emphasis on market agriculture and the development of family farms. The importance of strengthening institutional capacity was highlighted by several participants and it was emphasized that FAO would have an important role in providing technical assistance in the development and implementation of sound, effective experience-based policies in the region. It should not only ensure access to food, and address malnutrition, but it should provide support to the creation of an enabling environment for family farms to have better access to technologies, inputs, capital goods, credit and markets.
- 13. Furthermore, FAO should support member countries in their efforts to strengthen the negotiating power of farmers in the value chain and facilitate the enhancement of the capacity of farmers' organizations.
- 14. Additionally the participants emphasized that it would be important to present draft priority areas for the functional objectives X (Effective collaboration with Member Countries and Stakeholders) and Y (Efficient and effective administration), which had not been provided in the background documentation, sent prior to the organization of the event.
- 15. Based on the Strategic Framework Objectives and the priorities summarized in background documents, the following issues were highlighted during the discussions of the Consultation:

## C Summary of the Issues highlighted

### C. 1 Technical and Policy Issues

## Strategic Objective A: Sustainable intensification of crop production

- support policies, options and assistance for sustainable crop sector development, and
- sustainable management of land resources for crop production
- support to cross-boundary pest control (locust, etc.)
- pastures

### Strategic Objective B: Increased sustainable livestock production

- policies, options and assistance for sustainable livestock sector development and support policies, with emphasis on animal health (Foot-and-Mouth Disease (FMD), avian influenza, brucellosis, etc.) livestock identification and husbandry
- Rangelands

## Strategic Objective C: Sustainable management and use of fisheries and aquaculture resources

• the need for close cooperation between the subregional offices and the fisheries commissions and bodies was raised concerning the management of sustainable fisheries, marine and inland

• acquaculture as an income diversification opportunity

## Strategic Objective D: Improved quality and safety of food at all stages of the food chain

- harmonization and improvement of food safety and standards, based on the FAO/WHO Codex Alimentarius, for improved access to European markets
- institutions and capacity-building for harmonization of sanitary and phytosanitary (SPS) measures, institution building including requirements of WTO membership and regional economic integration and free trade areas

## Strategic Objective E: Sustainable forests management

• sustainable management of forests and trees was indicated as a priority area together with information collection and sharing

(for specific recommendations refer to the reports of the working groups)

# Strategic Objective F: Sustainable management of land, water and genetic resources and response to global environmental challenges

- assessments of and adaptation to the impacts of climate change and programmes for mitigation of the impacts of climate change
- policies and projects for the prevention of desertification, combating droughts and adaptation to climate change
- improvement of agrarian structure and land consolidation
- conservation and sustainable use of genetic resources (plant and animal) in food and agriculture (including benefit sharing)
- technical assistance related policies and projects to support least favoured areas (LFA).
  - o policies and projects for the sustainable management of biodiversity, e.g. grasslands

# Strategic Objective G: Enabling environment for markets to improve livelihoods and rural development

- rural development for poverty reduction and improvement of rural population livelihoods, including diversification of rural jobs and income sources
  - o agriculture's contribution to the revival of rural areas and reduction of poverty, including support targeted at small farmers
  - o inclusion of rural development into the mandate of Ministries of Agriculture
- support polices and technical assistance for small farms; overcoming limited access to inputs and credit and enhanced access to markets through the reduction of post-harvest losses, on farm storage and improved marketing by farmers
  - o support for small farmers, including improved access to land, credit and inputs
  - improvement of access of farmers and small farms to markets and increasing their bargaining power, among other ways, through marketing associations and cooperatives
- support the formation of value chains for agricultural and food products
- impacts of food wholesale and retails chains on standards and contracting
- organic agriculture and regional and traditional products: development of markets; support to farmers starting production and in obtaining certificates
  - o development of certification systems for organic products compatible with international systems such as the International Federation of Organic Agriculture Movements (IFOAM)
- agriculture as a supplier of public goods and remuneration of farmers' services

### Strategic Objective H: Improved food security and better nutrition

- regional and global food security: FAO normative work, statistical data and analyses, methodology, policies and projects
  - o food insecurity in the European region; sources and policy response
  - contribution of countries in the Europe and Central Asia region such as Belarus, Kazakhstan, the Russian Federation and Ukraine to regional and global food security (normative work)
- impacts of financial and economic crises on agriculture and rural areas
- technical assistance to member countries in the regions that are negotiating membership in the World Trade Organization (WTO)

### **Special Attention issue:**

• impacts of financial and economic crises on agriculture and rural areas and policy response experience

- o protecting agriculture and rural populations from possible further stages of the financial and economic crises
- regional/subregional studies on rural poverty: causes; policies to reduce the phenomenon and exchange of project experience
- study/studies of food security in the Europe and Central Asia region, including reliable food supply and availability through trade and regional cooperation

# Strategic Objective K: Gender equity in access to resources, goods, services and decision making

• mainstreaming gender into agricultural and rural policies needs to be addressed and Unit Results should be available. All FAO activities need to have a gender focus.

#### **Functional Objective X: Effective collaboration with Member States**

- combining and dissemination of FAO normative work with field projects
- formulation and tailoring Technical Cooperation Projects (TCPs) and FAO activities to the specific needs of the member countries in the region
- ensuring catalytic impacts of FAO technical assistance
- support to regional economic integration, including preparations and capacity-building for consultations and negotiations of accession and free trade areas
- country programming and preparation of further National Medium-Term Priority Frameworks (NMTPFs) including the linkages to other partners in order to have the basis for priority setting at country level
  - o facilitate exchange of experience and expertise among groups of countries at different stages of economic transition and reforms
  - o facilitating regional networking and cooperation among regional. subregional and technical organizations e.g. the Standing Working Group on Rural Development in South Eastern Europe
- focussed policy advice to Ministries of Agriculture and agricultural and rural institutions
- FAO assistance for the capacity-building of Ministries of Agriculture, for coordination of donor assistance and increased absorption of technical assistance, including the full use of technical assistance offered and avoiding "donor fatigue"
  - o better donor coordination in periods of financial and economic crises

o cooperation and synergies with other donors and international financial institutions (IFIs) at regional and country level

- o assisting EU New Member States provide technical assistance to other transition economies
- FAO should have an important role in the coordination of donors and with donors including carrying out a donor mapping for the region and the preparation of a resource mobilization strategy. It would be important to link a regional resource mobilization strategy with the FAO global strategy.
- members also asked to be provided with a methodology on how TCP assistance would be allocated across the countries to be able to have a clear idea of how the resources would be spent
- interdisciplinary work should be further emphasized and encouraged
- there was a request to have the functional objective X presented first as it is a fundamental objective

# C. 2 Overall process and other issues requiring attention for the European Commission on Agriculture (ECA)/ERC Yerevan

- 16. During the discussion on technical items, the participants also raised various issues related to the process of priority definition as well as information they would like to receive from the Secretariat to be better prepared for the discussions in Yerevan. These are ideas launched by member countries:
  - An FAO provided policy forum on sustainable agriculture and rural areas development, as well as discussing models of agriculture in the European and Central Asia Region (crosscutting issue SO A, SO G, SO F).
  - Better aligning the ECA and ERC work with the FAO Council through the Programme and Finance Committees.
  - It was stressed that 70 percent of the funding for the region is still with Headquarters and only 30 percent provided to the Decentralized Offices (DOs) in the Region. Thus the normative work needs to be considered as well as priority areas, which go beyond the technical assistance to be provided to the beneficiary countries. Priority areas highlighted by the donor or EU member countries would need to be better reflected.
  - In relation to the point above better clarify the contribution of the DOs to the normative work of FAO in the region.
  - To provide a clarification regarding the budget breakdown in the region and particularly to indicate the net appropriation versus the voluntary contribution and to provide a clearer picture regarding the extrabudgetary resources available in the region (for the budget breakdown see Annex 4).
  - Linking the work in the region also to the Committee on Agriculture (COAG) and other technical committees including the Committee on World Food Security (CFS).
  - Concern was raised that the prioritization should not be linked to the skill mix of FAO
    offices, but that the priority definition would then need to be followed up to have the
    adequate skill mix in the decentralized offices.
  - It would also be important to clearly indicate the financial aspects of the priority issues giving the member countries an idea as to which of the priorities would need to be financed from the assessed contribution and which part should be covered by extrabudgetary funds.
  - The work of other organizations addressing some of the priority issues listed should also be analysed and provided to the member countries, and in this context also the work

- which is undertaken together with the other Rome-based agencies and also the EU programmes.
- New ideas, which may not be in line with the presented Unit Results should also be included.
- The Secretariat should further outline what issues could be taken up by the European Regional Group or what could be done by the member countries in the context of the priority definition.
- Participants also requested the Secretariat to present a dynamic view of the priorities in order to allow the member countries to see new emerging and evolving areas.
- Stronger focus should also be given to priority areas by subregion.
- Implementation of priorities should also be handled with a certain level of flexibility.

## C. 3 Conclusion and Closing of the Session

- 17. The participants expressed their high appreciation for the excellent organization of the Consultation and particularly welcomed this unique opportunity to discuss the priorities in an informal way. It was emphasized that this had been of great assistance in understanding the planning process as well as in increasing the dialogue between the member countries themselves and between the member countries and the Secretariat, taking into consideration the specific role of the Regional Conference. It was stressed that such consultations should be further repeated as communication between the countries of the region was important. It was emphasized that a client-driven approach is a prerequisite for the work of the Organization in the region. These discussions would also contribute to eliminating the "silo structure" in the preparation of the priorities as well as of the work plans.
- 18. On the occasion of her upcoming retirement from the Organization, the participants of the Informal Consultation seized the occasion to express their appreciation for the strategic lead which Ms Maria Kadlecikova, Assistant Director-General, Regional Representative for Europe and Central Asia (ADG RR), had provided for the development of FAO's work programme in the Europe and Central Asia Region.
- 19. The consultation was closed by the ADG RR, and the Director General of the Ministry of Agriculture of Hungary.
- 20. The participants also had an opportunity to visit the premises of the Regional and Subregional Office as well as of the FAO Shared Services Centre located in the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development of Hungary. During the visit of the REU and SEU premises, several officers provided short presentations on specific technical issues e.g. biotechnology and the Global Information and Early Warning System (GIEWS), as well as a detailed presentation on the preparation process of the Medium-Term Plan (MTP)/PWB and the work planning exercise for 2010-11.

Annex 1

#### WORKING GROUP NO 1 - CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE

The meeting was attended by Armenia, Belarus, Georgia, the Republic of Moldova, and the Russian Federation from the subregion, Switzerland and by the EU member countries Estonia, France, Germany, Greece, Latvia, Litvania and Poland. FAO was represented by the ADG/Regional Representative for Europe and Central Asia and the Senior Policy Officer, Subregional Office for Central and Eastern Europe (SEU).

The meeting was facilitated by Professor Csaba Csaki, Corvinus University, Hungary

Reporting Officer: Ms Guljahan Kurbanova, Economist, REU

Several participants from the listed countries shared their views and approaches on future cooperation with the FAO Regional Office for Europe and Central Asia (REU) and the Subregional Office for Central and Eastern Europe (SEU). The specific economic and institutional situation of the region was articulated by several representatives.

These specific characteristics are:

- 1. The countries are in various stages of reforms, at very different levels in terms of income and economic development as well as export and import levels.
- 2. There is a significant group of member countries which are also donors, among these the EU New Member States (NMS); the latter may be seeking cooperation with FAO recognizing the Organization's comparative advantage in some relevant fields of activity.
- 3. There are countries in Central and Eastern Europe which can significantly influence global and regional food security.
- 4. The economies and institutions of countries of the region are still fragile due to the transition process, changing linkages to the global and regional international markets, and the structure of their economies.

Taking into account the above issues and proposals expressed by member countries the following directions were put forward as priorities:

- 1. Develop a tailor-made approach for cooperation between member countries and REU and SEU.
- 2. Focus on food security issues including countries with important export capacities, which may contribute to global and regional food security in the coming years, and countries, which are importers of agricultural commodities.
- 3. Continue cooperation on food safety issues in particular with regard to the Codex Alimentarius including translation into the Russian language of Codex documents in order to make them available to Russian-speaking countries and institutions.
- 4. Cooperate in building food products value added chains and marketing systems in the transition economies.
- 5. Support small farmers through strengthening input supply systems and by developing a new generation of associations, credit cooperatives and building processed products value added chains.

6. Assist in the formulation and implementation of rural development policies for combating rural poverty. Expand this work to explore options for income diversification in rural areas as a way to improve rural development (agrictourism, agroindustries etc.)

- 7. Develop organic farming to the extent possible, taking into account marketing potential, and support research on biodiversity, its conservation and sustainability.
- 8. Conduct normative and analytical activities including studies, conferences, discussions for assessment of the impact of the global economic and financial crisis on food security, agriculture, and rural areas, with a view to building an early warning system of risk monitoring and enhance preparedness to shocks.
- 9. Provide assistance on the sustainable management of forestry.
- 10. Promote cooperation with the World Trade Organization (WTO) in particular for non-member countries.
- 11. Conduct a policy dialogue with member countries on different issues of key importance for agricultural development, including support to small farmers, land management and its consolidation, where needed.
- 12. Encourage cooperation between countries on sharing experiences and lessons learned through comparative studies, policy dialogue, information dissemination.
- 13. Intensify advocacy and knowledge-sharing on FAO's comparative advantages.

Budapest, 23 March 2010.

Annex 2

#### WORKING GROUP 2 – SOUTH-EASTERN EUROPE

The Working Group session was attended by the representatives of Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro, Serbia, TfYR Macedonia, from the subregion and representatives of EU countries Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Hungary, Italy, Slovakia and Slovenia. FAO was represented by the Deputy Regional Representative – Subregional Coordinator for Central and Eastern Europe and the Senior Field Programme Officer, Regional Office for Europe and Central Asia (REU).

The meeting was facilitated by Mr Laszlo Vajda, Director General of the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development of Hungary and the reporting officer was Mr Stjepan Tanic, Agribusiness and Enterprise Development Officer, REU.

The meeting highlighted that European Union accession was an overall high priority for this group of countries. It was observed however, that the member countries of South-Eastern Europe are in different stages of accession to the EU. While the overall situation is similar, the timing of the pre- and accession process is different. There are specific needs of all countries which need to be analysed and addressed individually.

Food safety and quality standards, statistics and data collection for policy decisions are those FAO normative products and services which are priority issues for this country group. It was mentioned that in one of the member countries the last agricultural census carried out had been in 1962, thus there were no reliable data available for policy decisions. This is a concern for several other countries in the subregion.

It was highlighted that there is a need to differentiate the comparative advantages of FAO and the EU, as related to issues of EU accession. FAO should focus on providing assistance to develop institutional capacities for the coordination of donor assistance and technical issues, such as the categorization of less favoured areas (LFAs), and the harmonization of regulations, standards and legislation to EU norms. Taking into consideration the need to address the socio-economic situation of the rural poor, the formulation and/or updating of food security, agriculture and rural development strategies, and addressing land use issues are important areas for FAO assistance. Capacity-building to negotiate with the World Trade Organization (WTO) was also an important requirement.

Beyond the above overall priorities there are specific areas of priority for the individual countries related to food security and safety and assistance for the capacity-building of professional non-governmental agricultural organizations.

Some of the member countries in this subregion had prepared comprehensive sector papers for donor consultation with FAO assistance, covering agriculture, forestry, irrigation, biotechnology, the dairy sector, meat, the fruit and vegetable sectors; others are planning to undertake similar sector reviews and would wish to rely both on FAO's technical assistance as well as on the sharing of the acquired capacities and experiences of neighbouring countries.

While certain issues can be addressed at national level such as capacity-building related to phytosanitary measures, plant protection, sustainable forest management, market infrastructure (warehouses) management, combating forest fires; other issues could be addressed preferably at regional/cross-boundary level; such as the impacts of climate change, rural networking, and avian influenza.

The inputs of the EU member countries to the working group debates was very useful in order to draw attention to the fact that FAO should facilitate communication and networking among EU member countries and pre- and accession countries and to draw lessons from subregional experiences. It was also recommended that close cooperation between FAO and the European Commission in Brussels be established.

It was noted, that the availability of public aid would likely not improve in the immediate future. Therefore it was very encouraging to learn that some member countries such as Belgium are providing non earmarked extrabudgetary resources, allowing FAO Headquarters and the Decentralized Offices (DOs) to carry out strategic planning and subsequent identification of priority areas. It was emphasized that it is necessary to match the priority needs with available funds and decisions on immediate and medium-term priorities.

Budapest. 23 March 2010.

Annex 3

#### WORKING GROUP 3 – CENTRAL ASIA

Participants from Azerbaijan, Tajikistan and Turkey from the Central Asia (CA) Region and participants from the EU member countries were the Czech Republic, Estonia and Finland. FAO was represented by the Subregional Coordinator, Central Asia.

Facilitator: Mr David Kirviladze

Reporting Officer: Mustapha Sinaceur, Subregional Coordinator, Central Asia

Questions reviewed by the participants were mainly related to ownership but also concerning the type of support (products and services) the countries were expecting from FAO.

In the absence of other countries from the region, the Subregional Coordinator was asked to introduce the commonalities and/or differences between the priority areas of countries in the CA region; The countries present described the common issues, and comments were made on the working paper distributed: "Subregional Office for Central Asia (SEC) Priority Areas of Work during 2010-2013" as follows:

- Sustainable Intensification of Crop Production
- Increased Sustainable Livestock Production
- Sustainable Management and Use of Fishery and Aquaculture Resources
- Improved Quality and Safety of Foods
- Sustainable Management of Forest and Trees
- Sustainable Management of Land, Water and Genetic Resources
- Enabling Environment for Markets to Improve Livelihoods and Rural Development
- Increased and More Effective Public and Private Investment in Agriculture and Rural Development

In general, the CA countries discussed issues of priorities, strategies and policies related to national government programmes for the provision of food supply and concerning regional development.

### The main issues related to:

- low use fertilizers and other chemical inputs due to the limited financial resources of smallholders
- poor storage facilities, which result in a very high level (20-30 percent) of harvest and post-harvest losses
- insufficient knowledge and capacities at all stages of the value chain that results in poor market opportunities
- animal genetics and livestock production
- lack of credits for small and medium-size rural enterprises and individual producers
- poor capacities to prepare rural investments

The delegate of Turkey, a major donor in the subregion, has clearly indicated priorities based on the document "Subregional Office for Central Asia (SEC) Priority Areas of Work during 2010-2013":

- crop production
- implementation of a livestock identification and recording system
- aquaculture and fisheries
- rangeland management in the region
- conservation and sustainable use of animal and plant genetic resources
- impact of climate change on the rural economy
- gender issues in family farms
- management of water resources and improvement of water use efficiency
- research activities and technical cooperation among other countries in the subregion
- assistance to countries for the preparation of National Medium-Term Priority Frameworks (NMTPFs)

Apart from issues related to large investment programmes, which are out of the scope for FAO assistance, there was a common understanding of the priorities proposed by FAO's background document for the subregion, as these are in line with the priorities and needs of member countries.

It was also stressed to provide technical assistance through appropriate national capacity-building programmes.

Budapest. 23 March 2010.